

# **DET PSYKOLOGISKE FAKULTET**



Schizophrenia and Dissociative Identity Disorder: A Theoretical Investigation and Discussion of Dissociative Processes in Schizophrenic Patients with a History of Childhood Adversities.

## **HOVEDOPPGAVE**

profesjonsstudiet i psykologi

Julia Røiseland, Sarah Victoria Grinseng og Sunniva Straume Storemark

Vår 2016

Veileder

Kjersti Arefjord

#### Abstract

Research indicates that childhood adversities, which are recognized as an etiological factor in dissociative identity disorder (DID), also are prevalent in patients with schizophrenia. Early descriptions of schizophrenia resemble definitions and descriptions of dissociation, a cardinal feature of DID. Dissociation is defined as a lack of integration of personality due to traumatic experiences in childhood. This theoretical paper investigates dissociative processes in schizophrenic patients with a history of childhood adversities. Relevant literature on DID and schizophrenia is reviewed. It is discussed whether positive symptoms, memory impairments, and disordered self-experience in schizophrenic patients can be understood as dissociative processes. Similarities in neurobiological alterations between schizophrenic patients and people exposed to childhood adversities support the assumption of dissociative processes in the pathology and symptom expression of schizophrenia. A dissociative subtype of schizophrenia has been suggested. The paper advocates a need for the consideration of dissociative processes as a consequence of childhood adversities in schizophrenia. Implications for treatment are discussed.

*Keywords:* dissociation, schizophrenia, dissociative identity disorder, childhood adversities, dissociative processes

### Sammendrag

Forskning viser at forekomsten av barndomstraumer, som er en anerkjent årsaksfaktor i dissosiativ identitetsforstyrrelse (DID), også er utbredt blant pasienter med schizofreni. Tidlige beskrivelser av schizofreni ligner definisjoner og beskrivelser av dissosiasjon, et sentralt symptom i DID. Dissosiasjon defineres som manglende integrering av personligheten som følge av traumatiske hendelser i barndommen. Med utgangspunkt i relevant litteratur om DID og schizofreni er formålet med oppgaven å undersøke dissosiative prosesser hos schizofrene pasienter som har opplevd barndomstraumer. Det diskuteres hvorvidt positive symptomer, hukommelsesvansker og forstyrrelser i selvopplevelse hos schizofrene pasienter kan forstås som dissosiative prosesser. Antakelsen om underliggende dissosiative prosesser i patologi og symptomuttrykk i schizofreni støttes av likheter i nevrobiologiske endringer hos schizofrene pasienter og mennesker som har vært utsatt for barndomstraumer. En dissosiativ subtype av schizofreni er foreslått. Oppgaven argumenterer for at man bør vurdere hvorvidt dissosiative prosesser, utviklet som en konsekvens av barndomstraumer, er tilstede hos schizofrene pasienter. Kliniske implikasjoner drøftes.

*Nøkkelord:* dissosiasjon, schizofreni, dissosiativ identitetsforstyrrelse, barndomstraumer, dissosiative prosesser

## **Contents**

Introduction	. 7
Method	. 12
Dissociative Identity Disorder	. 12
The Theory of Structural Dissociation of the Personality	13
Controversies Surrounding Dissocation	15
Schizophrenia	. 17
The Etiology of Schizophrenia.	. 18
Childhood Adversities as Potentially Traumatizing Events	20
Early Relational Experiences and Disorganized Attachment	22
Childhood Adversitites in DID.	24
Childhood Adversities in Schizophrenia.	. 25
Dissociative Processes in Schizophrenic Symptoms and Features	26
Positive Symptoms	. 27
Auditory hallucinations	. 27
Delusions	30
Disorganized and catatonic behavior	. 31
Negative Symptoms.	32
Memory impairments and dissociative amnesia	33
Disordered self-experience, ipseity disturbance, and	
depersonalization	. 34
Neurobiological Findings	38
Neurobiological Findings in People Exposed in Childhood Adversities	39
The Traumagenic Neurodevelopmental Model	41

A Dissociative Subtype of Schizophrenia	43
Discussion	44
Conclusion	52
Takk til	53
References	54

#### Introduction

In June 2015, the first international conference addressing the relationship between trauma, dissociation and psychosis was held in Kristiansand, Norway, marking an important step towards integrating knowledge and research on psychosis and dissociation (Trauma, Dissociation and Psychosis International Conference, 2015). During later years, clinical experience and research on dissociative and psychotic disorders have generated important knowledge regarding the role of childhood adversities in the development of psychopathology.

Theory and clinical practice on dissociative disorders are inspired by the works of Pierre Janet (as cited in Renard, Pijnenborg, & Lysaker, 2012). Janet (as cited in Nijenhuis & van der Hart, 2011) perceived the phenomenon of dissociation as a lack of integration of personality due to traumatic experiences in childhood, often related to primary caregivers. This lack of integration is thought to result in two or more non-integrated dissociative parts of the personality (Nijenhuis & van der Hart, 2011).

Dissociative disorders are characterized in DSM-V "by a disruption of and/or discontinuity in the normal integration of consciousness, memory, identity, emotion, perception, body representation, motor control, and behavior" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 291). Dissociative symptoms are interpreted in terms of a traumadissociation paradigm, and the symptoms are understood as an expression of unresolved trauma (Moskowitz, 2011).

Among the dissociative disorders, dissociative identity disorder (DID) is considered to be the most complex and severe (Nijenhuis, van der Hart, & Steele, 2006). Research on the prevalence of DID is limited (Dorahy et al., 2014). Studies conducted in Turkey have found an estimated prevalence of 0.4 % in the general

population (Akyüz, Doğan, Şar, Yargiç, & Tutkun, 1999) and 1.1 % among women (Akyuz, Sar, Kugu, & Doğan, 2005; Şar, Akyüz, & Doğan, 2007). In a more recent overview, Dorahy et al. (2014) found an estimated prevalence of approximately 1 % in the general population.

Childhood adversities are highly associated with dissociative disorders in general, and DID in particular (Foote, Smolin, Kaplan, Legatt, & Lipschitz, 2006; Mulder, Beautrais, Joyce, & Fergusson, 1998; Ross et al., 1990; Sar et al., 2009; Schauer & Elbert, 2010; Simeon, Guralnik, Schmeidler, Sirof, & Knutelska, 2001; van Ijzendoorn & Schuengel, 1996; Yanartas et al., 2015). Traumatic events in childhood are thought to influence and shape the content and expression of symptoms experienced by patients with DID (Moskowitz, 2011). Traumatic events related to caregivers undermine the development of the mental and relational capacity a child needs to regulate stress and emotion (Gergely, Fonagy, Jurist, & Target, 2002). Dissociation may occur as a result of early and repeated traumatization, when the experience is too painful or intimidating to be encoded and integrated into personality (Liotti, 2004). This may result in dissociative fragmentation (Blizard, 2003; van der Hart, Nijenhuis, & Steele, 2006), disrupting the individual's further interpretation and understanding of themselves and others (Benum, 2006).

An impossible situation arises when the child is exposed to adversities from primary caregivers; the child both lacks the ability to escape, and misses the opportunity for preparation. This can be understood in terms of attachment theory (Bowlby, 1969); the attachment person represents both a secure base and a source of threat. This is assumed to give rise to a *disorganized attachment system* (Liotti & Gumley, 2008; Main, 1991). In some cases, the child psychologically detaches itself from the events

that are too overwhelming to process (Benum, 2006; van der Hart et al., 2006), and reduces its conscious awareness during the traumatic incident (Longden, Madill, & Waterman, 2012). This detachment may involve depersonalization, derealization, identity confusion, and psychogenic amnesia as survival strategies (Longden et al., 2012).

Dissociation is an equivocal concept and there has been, and still are, some controversies surrounding the phenomenon (Dalenberg et al., 2012; Dorahy et al., 2014; Floris & McPherson, 2015). Despite controversies and debate surrounding the validity, prevalence, and etiology of DID as a diagnosis, research that support the diagnosis is accumulating (Dorahy et al., 2014).

Among the psychotic disorders, schizophrenia is the most prevalent one, and also considered to be the most severe (Viertiö, 2011). It is estimated that schizophrenia occurs in 4.6 per 1000 person (Saha, Chant, Welham, & McGrath, 2005). The lifetime risk of developing schizophrenia is estimated to be between 0.3 and 1 % (Norsk Helseinformatikk, 2013).

Schizophrenia was originally described by Bleuler, who defined schizophrenia as a personality that has lost its unity (as cited in Moskowitz, 2011). He also recognized the symptoms of schizophrenia as phenomenologically connected to the life experiences of the patient. According to Bleuler, the fundamental symptoms of schizophrenia consisted of loosening of associations, ambivalence, autism, and flattened or inappropriate affectivity (as cited in Schäfer, Ross, & Read, 2008). Bleuler's view of schizophrenia was premeated with dissociative concepts (Moskowitz, 2011), and in his original description of the disorder, he "repeatedly refers to a splitting of the personality, switching of executive control, amnesia between personality states, conflict

between personality states, different ego states with different names and ages, and changes in voice, facial expression, manner and cognition which matches the different ages and genders of the personality stages" (Ross & Keyes, 2004, p. 70). This historical description of schizophrenia resembles contemporary descriptions of dissociative disorders (Moskowitz, 2011), and has common features with the DSM-V description of dissociation previously cited (Renard et al., 2012).

Throughout the 20th century, the field of schizophrenia has largely been influenced by the works of Kraepelin, who viewed schizophrenia as a biological and genetic malfunction (Moskowitz, 2011). There has been less focus on psychosocial factors in the development of schizophrenia, such as adverse childhood experiences (Moskowitz, 2011).

Recent research has shown that many patients diagnosed with schizophrenia have experienced childhood adversities (Bendall, Jackson, Hulbert, & McGorry, 2008; Ross & Keyes, 2004; Sar et al., 2009; Schalinski, Fischer, & Rockstroh, 2015; Spence et al., 2006), and dissociative phenomena appear to be present in many schizophrenic patients (Ross & Keyes, 2004; Schäfer et al., 2008; Vogel, Braungardt, Grabe, Schneider, & Klauer, 2013). This has led to the proposal of dissociation mediating the relationship between childhood trauma and psychosis (Moskowitz, 2011). A dissociative subtype of schizophrenia has been suggested to explain the prevalence of childhood adversities and dissociative phenomena in some schizophrenic patients (Ross, 2004).

A growing body of research indicates that symptoms characteristic of schizophrenia, such as auditory hallucinations (Read, Os, Morrison, & Ross, 2005), thought disorder and negative symptoms (Morrison, Frame, & Larkin, 2003; Read et al.,

2005), delusions (Read et al., 2005), and disrupted self-concept (Evans, Reid, Preston, Palmier-Claus, & Sellwood, 2015), also appear in patients with dissociative disorders.

Childhood adversities appear to be of considerable importance for the development of different types of psychopathology (Morgan & Fisher, 2007; Muenzenmaier et al., 2015), and are established as an etiological factor in dissociative disorders (Yanartas et al., 2015). There is also increasing evidence indicating that childhood adversities contribute in the etiology of schizophrenia (Read et al., 2005). Physical and sexual abuse (Muenzenmaier et al., 2015; Sar et al., 2009), and emotional neglect (Sar et al., 2009) are among the childhood adversities that have been found to be of importance in both dissociative disorders and schizophrenia. Neurobiological research adds support to the hypothesis that childhood adversities are of importance in the development of both DID and schizophrenia (Read, Fosse, Moskowitz, & Perry, 2014). Neurobiological similarities between persons exposed to early trauma and schizophrenic patients include over-reactivity and dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, neurotransmitter abnormalities, and structural changes in the brain (Morgan & Fisher, 2007; Read et al., 2014; Read et al., 2005).

Increasing research suggest that a significant proportion of patients with schizophrenia has a history of childhood adversities. Childhood adversities are a central causal factor in DID, in which dissociation can be viewed as a form of coping mechanism with negative outcome. Schizophrenic patients also get high scores on measures of dissociation. By comparing symptoms and features of DID and schizophrenia, this paper aims to investigate whether cardinal features of schizophrenia can be understood within a trauma perspective. Are there reasons to consider

dissociative processes in the pathology of schizophrenia? Clinical implications for treatment of schizophrenic patients will be discussed.

#### Method

To address the issue of this paper, relevant literature has been selected based on consecutive searches in the databases Google Scholar, PSYCHinfo, Web of Science, Cochrane, and Oria. The literature searches have included combinations and variations of the keywords; 'schizophrenia', 'psychosis', 'childhood adversity', 'childhood trauma', 'traumatization', 'dissociation', and 'dissociative identity disorder'.

### **Dissociative Identity Disorder**

Dissociative identity disorder (DID), previously known as multiple personality disorder (MPD), is conceived of as the most complex of the dissociative disorders, and is strongly associated with adverse experiences in childhood (van der Hart et al., 2006). Patients with DID typically report multiple types of interpersonal maltreatment during childhood. This, however, is not a diagnostic criterion.

According to the DSM-V, DID is characterized by "the presence of two or more distinct personality states or an experience of possession" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 291) and "recurrent episodes of amnesia" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 291). The different personality states, or identities, in DID are thought to be products of traumatized children's attempts to compartmentalize overwhelming emotions and memories that are linked to trauma (Merckelbach, Devilly, & Rassin, 2002).

Dissociation is central in DID, and is defined as a lack of the normal integration of thoughts, experiences and feelings into consciousness and memory (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). According to DSM-V, the experience of dissociative

symptoms involves "unbidden intrusions into awareness and behavior" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 291) that leads to a discontinuity in subjective experience. These intrusions can become manifest as fragmentation of identity, depersonalization, and derealization, and has been referred to as *detatchment dissociation* (Vogel et al., 2013), or *positive dissociative symptoms* (van der Hart et al., 2006). Furthermore, dissociative symptoms can involve an "inability to access information or to control mental functions that normally are readily amenable to access or control" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 291). This latter description of dissociative symptoms includes phenomena such as amnesia for traumatic events, and has been referred to as *compartmentalization dissociation* (Holmes et al., 2015), or *negative dissociative symptoms* (van der Hart et al., 2006).

Within academic terminology, dissociation is often used synonymously with terms such as hysteria, somatization and conversion (Jakobsen, Benum, & Anstorp, 2006). In addition, there are currently numerous and often contradictory definitions of dissociation (van der Hart et al., 2006), causing confusion and making the use of the concept problematic. In this section, the term dissociation is sought clarified and placed in the context of the theory of structural dissociation of the personality (van der Hart et al., 2006) as it relates to the diagnosis DID.

### The Theory of Structural Dissociation of the Personality

The theory of structural dissociation of the personality (van der Hart, Nijenhuis, Steele, & Brown, 2004) incorporates classical and contemporary views and theories on dissociation and traumatization.

An individual's personality is thought to consist of several evolved and adaptive psychobiological *action systems* organized into two major categories that are aimed at

1) approaching attractive stimuli, or 2) avoiding or escaping aversive threats (Nijenhuis et al., 2006; van der Hart et al., 2006). The action systems are functional and flexible within certain limitations. They activate different affects and emotions to help the individual identify its surroundings as either useful or harmful (Nijenhuis et al., 2006) and to generate adaptive responses to the surroundings (van der Hart et al., 2006).

Van der Hart et al. (2006) propose that dissociative divisions take place between the two major categories of action systems. As humans we are not able to engage easily in tasks of daily living and survival simultaneously when under threat. When both categories of action systems are necessary for longer periods of time, for instance in repeated traumatization, a division in personality may develop to cope with the conflicting goals of these simultaneously activated action systems (van der Hart et al., 2006). This division is referred to as basic structural dissociation of the personality. Structural dissociation causes a lack of cohesion and integration of the personality that is manifested in the alteration between, and coexistence of, re-experiencing and avoiding the traumatic memories (van der Hart et al., 2006).

Structural dissociation involves different parts of the individual's personality (Nijenhuis et al., 2006). The *apparently normal part* of the personality (ANP), is fixated in trying to go on with normal life, and is directed by action systems for daily life such as exploration, caretaking, and attachment, while avoiding the traumatic memories. Other parts of the personality, referred to as *emotional parts* (EP), are fixated in the action system that was activated during the traumatic event (e.g., action systems for defense or sexuality).

According to the theory, structural dissociation can range from very simple to extremely complex divisions of the personality. It is the patient's *one* personality that is

split into two or more parts (Nijenhuis et al., 2006). Therefore, structural dissociation must be understood as a dimensional construction that affects the whole personality. The most basic form of division is primary structural dissociation, which involves a division between a single ANP and a single EP. When traumatizing events are increasingly overwhelming or prolonged, further division of EP may occur, while a single ANP remains intact. This is referred to as secondary structural dissociation. When inescapable aspects of daily life become associated with past trauma, triggers tend to reactivate traumatic memories, and a division of the ANP may occur in addition to divisions of EP. This is the most complex form of structural dissociation, and is referred to as tertiary structural dissociation. Tertiary structural dissociation occurs when early and chronic traumatization stands in the way of the development of a relatively coherent personality (Nijenhuis et al., 2006). An integrated personality is achieved through development. Traumatized children rarely have developed an integrated personality prior to traumatization. Therefore, the traumatization disrupts the normal development and integration of the personality. The complex levels of tertiary structural dissociation in adults who were chronically traumatized as children were developed within a personality that lacks the normal cohesion and coherence of the mental system (van der Hart et al., 2006).

The theory's basic premise is that all trauma-related disorders involve some degree of structural dissociation, with acute stress disorder and simple posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) being the most basic, and DID the most complex, involving tertiary structural dissociation (van der Hart et al., 2006).

### **Controversies Surrounding Dissociation**

DID has been of importance throughout the history of pscyhiatry (Dorahy et al., 2014), and is recognized as a mental disorder in the DSM-V. In spite of this, theory and research on dissociation in general, and on DID in particular, has been characterized by controversy and debate surrounding its validity, prevalence, and etiology (Dalenberg et al., 2012; Dorahy et al., 2014; Floris & McPherson, 2015; Merckelbach et al., 2002).

In an overview, Dorahy et al. (2014) examined the empirical data on DID. They found that DID is a valid diagnosis that can be reliably discriminated from other disorders by the use of diagnostic instruments.

The debate about the etiology of DID has focused on whether childhood trauma can cause psychopathology. The debate connected to false memories of trauma is of importance in this controvercy. Critics to DID view the disorder to be iatrogenic and caused by a combination of overly committed therapists and highly suggestible patients (Floris & McPherson, 2015). The false memory debate contributed to more research on the relationship between trauma and dissociation, and to the findings that dissociation was related to more severe forms of trauma-related syndromes, such as complex PTSD (Allen, Huntoon, & Evans, 1999). It also became evident that dissociative symptoms were present in syndromes not initially thought to be related to trauma, such as schizophrenia (Dalenberg et al., 2012).

Two models explain the relationship between trauma and dissociative symptoms. Within the *Trauma Model of Dissociation* traumatic experiences are thought to cause dissociation (Dalenberg et al., 2012). Dissociation is assumed to be a coping mechanism that is adaptive when the trauma occurs. This, however, has negative side effects later in life, because non-integrated traumatic experiences tend to intrude into consciousness (Nijenhuis et al., 2006).

In the *Fantasy Model of Dissociation*, dissociation is assumed to be unrelated to trauma, and fantasy proneness is thought to give rise to both dissociative experiences and self-reports of traumatic experiences (Dalenberg et al., 2012). Fantasy proneness refers to a deep and profound involvement in fantasy and imagination (Merckelbach & Muris, 2001), and is related to the concept of absorption. Absorption is defined as "a disposition for having episodes of 'total' attention that fully engage one's representational resources" (Tellegen & Atkinson, 1974, p. 268). The tendency for fantasizing is acknowledged within the Trauma Model, and is explained as a strategy to escape from a hurtful reality in traumatized patients. However, it is not believed to cause dissociation (Näring & Nijenhuis, 2005).

In a meta-analysis of both the models, the findings suggest a strong and consistent relationship between trauma and dissociation that appears reliably across studies both in clinical and community samples (Dalenberg et al., 2012). In line with this, Dorahy et al. (2014) found that almost every individual with DID in the studies they examined had a history of severe, chronic childhood trauma.

In summary, despite controvercies and debate surrounding DID, accumulating research supports DID as a complex and valid diagnosis with a strong association to childhood adversities.

#### **Schizophrenia**

Schizophrenia is characterized as a psychotic disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Psychosis is considered a generic psychiatric term for "a loss of contact with reality, including false ideas (delusions) and sensory experiences without objective origin (hallucinations)" (Longden et al., 2012, p. 29). The psychotic disorders in DSM-V are defined by abnormalities in one or more of the following five domains:

delusions, hallucinations, disorganized speech, grossly disorganized or catatonic behavior, and negative symptoms (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). To obtain a diagnosis of schizophrenia a person has to experience at least two of these symptoms for more than a month (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Delusions refer to false beliefs that are not consistent with, or accepted within, the persons's culture (National Institute of Mental Health, 2016a). Hallucinations refer to perceptions that occur in the absence of external stimuli (Silbersweig et al., 1995). Disorganized speech concerns disturbances in how a person's thoughts, expressed through speech, comply with language. The listener does not understand the person's discourse (McGrath, 1991). Disorganized behavior refers to behavior that is unusual for the individual and may seem strange and inappropriate. Such behaviors can for instance be repetitive behavior, unexpected violence, or aimless wandering (Bakken, Eilertsen, Smeby & Mertinsen, 2009). The negative symptoms include flattened affect, reduced experience of joy, and difficulties initiating and sustaining everyday activities including speech (National Institute of Mental Health, 2016b). Disturbances in self-experience also seem to be an important feature of schizophrenia (Sass & Parnas, 2003; Sass, Pienkos, Nelson, & Medford, 2013; Scharfetter, 2008).

### The Etiology of Schizophrenia

There have been descriptions of, and several different etiological explanations for, schizophrenia for more than 100 years (Adityanjee, Aderibigbe, Theodoridis & Vieweg, 1999). From early to the mid-1900s the importance of early experiences with caregivers was emphasized in the development of schizophrenia (Shean, 2004).

In the 1950s, with the discovery of neuroleptic drugs, research on schizophrenia began focusing on brain chemistry. Dopamine and glutamate systems in the brain have

been thought to be of relevance (Coyle, 2006; Insel, 2010). Even though activity in both dopamine and glutamate systems in the brain seem to be involved in the pathology of schizophrenia, it has not been proved that either system is causing the disorder. Some critics have argued that the neurochemical deficits could be an effect of chronic illness or of the treatment, and thus do not represent a causal factor (Insel, 2010).

Several environmental factors contribute in the development of schizophrenia (Mäki et al., 2005). Some studies show that maternal malnutrition during pregnancy, infections during second trimester, and cytokine exposure is associated with later development of schizophrenia. However, most of these effects are modest (Insel, 2010). Living in urban areas during childhood and adolescence, having a history of migration, and male gender all seem to be associated with increased risk for developing schizophrenia (Mäki et al., 2005). In addition, some studies have indicated that premorbid cannabis use is associated with development of schizophrenia (Arseneault, Cannon, Witton, & Murray, 2004).

Several studies have demonstrated a high heritability estimate of schizophrenia (Cardno et al., 1999; Forero et al., in press; Kendler et al., 1993; Sullivan, Kendler, & Neale, 2003). In genetic research, several genes have been identified that may be involved in the development of the disorder. These genes are implicated in brain development, and schizophrenia is now recognized as a neurodevelopmental disorder (Insel, 2010).

Neurodevelopmental models present a framework for integrating both genetic and environmental factors in the development of schizophrenia. These models propose that the substrate of schizophrenia is established when development fails and key neural networks do not develop normally (Tsuang, Stone, & Faraone, 2001).

### **Childhood Adversities as Potentially Traumatizing Events**

Childhood adversities, such as sexual or physical abuse, emotional abuse, and emotional neglect, appear to play an etiological role in the development of adult psychopathology (Evans et al., 2015; Read et al., 2005; Schalinski et al., 2015). Early adverse experiences can be traumatizing in their effects on individuals. Furthermore, the child often experiences these kinds of adversities in combination with lack of emotional and social support (van der Hart et al., 2006).

Trauma is defined as a psychobiological injury that is caused by an event that exceeds the individual's capacity to mentally integrate it (Nijenhuis & van der Hart, 2011). Extremely stressful experiences, such as childhood adversities, can be conceived of as *potentially traumatizing events*, as not everyone who experiences it will necessarily be traumatized.

Several factors increase an event's potential to be traumatizing (van der Hart et al., 2006). These factors include 1) sudden, uncontrollable, unpredictable, and extremely negative experiences, 2) interpersonally violent and physically harmful or life threatening events, and 3) experiences that involve attachment loss or betrayal by an important attachment person. According to van der Hart et al. (2006) child abuse often includes all of these factors, making it highly likely to be traumatizing.

Although the term trauma was initially defined as the damage caused by an isolated incident or a single traumatic experience, it is also of relevance to long lasting, repeated exposure to stress (Benum, 2006). Recurrent exposure to major stressors over time has been termed *chronic traumatization* (van der Hart et al., 2006). In chronic traumatization, there is an accumulation of the harmful effects to the individual that will have pervasive consequences, especially when occurring at an early age (Benum, 2006).

21

Furthermore, chronic traumatization impacts both mental and physical functions because the development of the brain and neuroendocrine function are compromised (van der Hart et al., 2006). Early and repeated traumatization from close caregivers undermines the individual's ability to use its relations to others for the establishment of safety. It affects the individual's ways of perceiving, thinking and relating to itself and its environment, and interrupts the development of personality and alters the self-concept (Benum, 2006).

Physical and sexual abuse has received most attention in research on childhood adversities (Benum, 2006). However, it has become evident that chronic traumatization can also occur as a response to other adverse experiences, such as emotional abuse, emotional neglect, and lack of social support (Benum, 2006). Emotional abuse refers to psychological maltreatment and non-physical aggression (Spertus, Yehuda, Wong, Halligan, & Seremetis, 2003), and can involve caregivers that actively or passively reject, ignore, or continuously criticize the child (Benum, 2006). Emotional neglect refers to the absence of a nurturing emotional environment (Spertus et al., 2003), and involves caregivers that are nonresponsive to their child's need for warmth and comfort. Emotional abuse and neglect thus involve depriving the child of aspects that are vital for the psychological development (van der Hart et al., 2006). Among the long term effects of emotional neglect are difficulties in self-soothing and affect regulation (Benum, 2006). Social support is important because children are dependent on adults for help in integrating difficult experiences. Therefore, Lack of social support constitutes a risk factor for the development of trauma-related disorders in the face of early and chronic traumatization (van der Hart et al., 2006).

Throughout this paper the term childhood adversities is used to encompass all of the above discussed kinds of potentially traumatizing events in childhood.

## Early Relational Experiences and Disorganized Attachment

Both in schizophrenia and in DID, early relations to significant caregivers have been acknowledged as important contributors to the development of psychopathology (Cannon, Caspi & Moffitt, 2002; Liotti, 2004). One view on this contribution is based on the development of a *disorganized attachment system* after a child is exposed to potentially traumatizing events from significant others (Liotti & Gumley, 2008).

John Bowlby (1969) pointed to attachment as an adaptive system that is activated in response to fear. The activation of the system motivates the child to seek proximity to the caregiver, with the expectation that they will receive protection and emotional support.

These early experiences and expectations of interaction gradually become internalized in the child (Bowlby, 1969), and are carried forward into childhood and adulthood as implicit core relational schemata (Liotti & Gumley, 2008). These relational schemata, or *internal working models* (Bowlby, 1969; Mercer, 2006), regulate cognitive, behavioral and affective responses in interpersonal interactions and produce enduring expectations about the self and others (Liotti & Gumley, 2008; Mercer, 2006). Based on the response they receive from their caregivers, infants develop different organized patterns of attachment behavior toward their caregivers (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters & Wall, 1978). A specific internal working model corresponds to each of these patterns (Liotti & Gumley, 2008).

Ainsworth et al. (1978) identified three *organized* patterns of attachment; secure, avoidant and resistant (or ambivalent). Each of these patterns seem to be related to the

experienced and expected interaction with a caregiver (Ainsworth et al., 1978; Main, 1995), in which the child has received varying degrees of accessibility and sensitivity from the caregiver for its signals and needs (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Some children seem to lack any organized or coherent attachment pattern when the attachment system is activated (Main, 1991; Main & Solomon, 1986). In response to the caregiver, these children show conflicting, disoriented, and contradictory behavioral patterns; their attachment patterns are *disorganized* (Liotti & Gumley, 2008; Main, 1991).

The conflicting responses are thought to be a result of frightening caregiver behavior (Main, 1995), thus interfering with the development of a coherent pattern of attachment (Liotti, 2004). In the presence of any stressor, the child seeks proximity to the caregiver for safety, comfort, and reassurance (Blizard, 2003; Bowlby, 1969; Holmes, 2004). Disorganized attachment arises when a child is unable to form any coherent strategy for maintaining attachment to a parent or other significant caretaker, because the caretaker is unable to provide safety or threatens the child (Blizard, 2003).

Disorganized attachment behavior represents an approach-avoidance dilemma (Holmes, 2004), in which the attachment figure itself is the source of threat. The origin of disorganized attachment behavior has been explained in terms of conflict between two different inborn systems; the attachment system and the fight-flight system (Liotti & Gumley, 2008), two systems that normally operate in harmony. These children are put in an inextricable situation where they are caught in a relational trap, the caregiver is the source of the experience of fear (which activates the fight-flight system), and is at the same time the solution to the child's fear (which activates the attachment system) (Hesse & Main, 2000; Liotti & Gumley, 2008). This situation has been termed *fright* 

without solution (Main & Hesse, 1990). No consistent behavioral strategy will relieve the threat (Holmes, 2004).

Liotti (2004) argues that disorganized attachment may be the starting point for the development of dissociative disorders. This is because the fright without solution situation demands that the child dissociate the painful experience to maintain a relation to the caregiver, which the child is dependent on. It has been suggested that disorganized attachment also may be involved in the development of schizophrenia, and that disorganized attachment thus represents a common developmental route in both disorders (Liotti & Gumley, 2008).

#### **Childhood Adversities in DID**

DID is highly associated with childhood adversities (Foote et al., 2006; Mulder et al., 1998; Ross et al., 1990; Simeon et al., 2001; van Ijzendoorn & Schuengel, 1996). In a meta-analysis, a strong and significant relationship between childhood adversities and dissociative symptoms emerged (van Ijzendoorn & Schuengel, 1996). Subjects that achieve high scores on the Dissociative Experiences Scale (DES) (Bernstein & Putnam, 1986) have been found to report a greater extent of psychological, physical, and sexual maltreatment in childhood, both in clinical (Sandberg & Lynn, 1992) and general population samples (Mulder et al., 1998).

A history of childhood physical and/or sexual abuse was reported in 95.1 % of a sample of patients diagnosed with DID (Ross et al., 1990). Foote et al. (2006) found that 29 % of an outpatient psychiatric sample in the US qualified for a dissociative disorder, and that 6 % of the sample fulfilled the critera for DID. Furthermore, patients in the sample with a dissociative disorder were significantly more likely to report childhood physical and sexual abuse than patients without a dissociative disorder. A recent study

from Turkey found similar prevalence in an outpatient sample, and replicated the finding that childhood adversities were more common in patients with a dissociative disorder than in patients who did not have a dissociative disorder (Yanartas et al., 2015).

There also appear to be a relationship between severity of trauma (Kirby, Chu, & Dill, 1993; Simeon et al., 2001), lower age onset of the abuse (Kirby et al., 1993; Schalinski & Teicher, 2015), and the severity of dissociative symptomatology. This lends further support for childhood adversities playing a causal role in dissociative processes. Severity of dissociative symptoms has been shown to be related to number of childhood, but not number of adult, traumatic events, indicating that there may be windows of vulnerability for the development of dissociation (Schalinski & Teicher, 2015).

### Childhood Adversities in Schizophrenia

Several studies have shown a high prevalence of different types of childhood adversities among patients with schizophrenia (Bendall et al., 2008; Morgan & Fisher, 2007; Ross & Keyes, 2004; Sar et al., 2009; Schalinski et al., 2015; Spence et al., 2006). Spence et al. (2006) found that 75 % of patients in a schizophrenia sample had experienced one or more childhood adversities. Furthermore, the study indicated that physical abuse was related to schizophrenia to a larger extent than to other non-psychotic disorders. In line with the findings of Spence et al. (2006), Schalinski et al. (2015) found that 73 % of a sample with psychotic spectrum disorders, of which the majority (77,4 %) filled the criteria for a diagnosis of schizophrenia, reported at least one childhood adversity. A meta-analysis yielded similar prevalence numbers (Matheson, Shepherd, Pinchbeck, Laurens, & Carr, 2013).

Early childhood adversities increase the risk for positive psychotic symptoms (Janssen et al., 2004; Read, Agar, Argyle, & Aderhold, 2003; Schalinski et al., 2015; Schenkel, Spaulding, DiLillo, & Silverstein, 2005) such as delusions and hallucinations (Muenzenmaier et al., 2015). Schalinski et al. (2015) investigated the impact of different types of childhood adversities on symptom severity and course of illness in a sample of patients with psychotic spectrum disorders. Patients with high levels of childhood adversities expressed more positive symptoms than patients with low levels of childhood adversities, and also reported an overall higher symptom expression. The results indicate that emotional neglect and physical neglect, along with sexual abuse, have an impact on the severity of the symptoms. Emotional neglect predicted positive symptoms (Schalinski et al., 2015).

In line with these findings, it has been suggested that childhood adversities, such as physical and sexual abuse, and physical and emotional neglect, may be a causal factor in schizophrenia (Holowka, King, Saheb, Pukall, & Brunet, 2003; Read et al., 2014; Read et al., 2005). However, this relationship between childhood adversities and schizophrenia is subject to debate, and Morgan and Fisher (2007) argue that there is not enough research supporting this link. They and others (Bendall et al., 2008) argue that the findings have methodological limitations such as lack of a control group, and that one should be careful to overinterpret the results. However, a rapidly increasing body of research indicates an association between childhood adversities and schizophrenia, and several studies have aimed to explore the nature of this association (Evans et al., 2015).

## Dissociative Processes in Schizophrenic Symptoms and Features

In the following section, the paper elaborates how the positive symptoms of schizophrenia, often referred to as Schneiderian first rank symptoms, can be interpreted

in terms of dissociative processes. Also, memory impairments and disruptions in self-experience in schizophrenia will be considered, as well as how these can be conceptualized within the framework of so-called negative dissociative symptoms, such as dissociative amnesia and depersonalization. It is also common to use the terms positive and negative symptoms to describe symptoms of schizophrenia.

## **Positive Symptoms**

Positive symptoms of schizophrenia are defined as an increase of certain symptomatic experiences and behaviors (Shean, 2004), and encompass the Schneiderian first rank symptoms. Schneiderian first rank symptoms include, but are not limited to, hallucinations, such as voices arguing or commenting, images of traumatic experiences, and delusional thinking (Ellason & Ross, 1995).

Positive dissociative symptoms are defined as "mental and physical or behavioral phenomena that intrude or interrupt one or more parts of the personality, and that represent features of one or more other parts of the personality" (van der Hart et al., 2006, p. 91). In terms of the theory of structural dissociation, positive dissociative symptoms involve intrusion of an emotional part of the personality (EP) into the apparently normal part of the personality (ANP), for instance in the form of intrusive memories or flashbacks (Nijenhuis et al., 2006). Although intrusive memories, or flashbacks, are not commonly associated with dissociation, Nijenhuis et al. (2006) argue that they represent positive dissociative symptoms. According to them, intrusive memories illustrate that the personality is not fully integrated and that parts of the personality are fixated on the traumatic experience(s).

**Auditory hallucinations.** Auditory hallucinations are defined as a percept-like experience of a human vocalization that appears in the absence of an appropriate

stimulus. It also follows that the voice is experienced in a conscious state and is not induced by organic or state dependent circumstances (Longden et al., 2012). Auditory hallucinations have generally been considered to be a cardinal symptom in psychotic disorders, including schizophrenia (David, 1999). Voices commenting and conversing are a typical characteristic of schizophrenia, but are also common in DID (Moskowitz, Barker-Collo, & Ellson, 2005; Moskowitz, Read, Farrelly, Rudegeair, & Williams, 2009). In fact, some studies have indicated a higher prevalence of auditory hallucinations in DID than in schizophrenia (Ellason & Ross, 1995; Moskowitz et al., 2005; Ross et al., 1990). Furthermore, voice hearing appears to be quite common in the general population with estimates of lifetime prevalence varying from 1-16 %, indicating that voice hearing may not be the hallmark of schizophrenia after all (Longden et al., 2012).

Several attempts have been made to distinguish diagnostically between voice hearing as it appears in DID and schizophrenia, respectively (Copolov, Trauer, & Mackinnon, 2004; Dorahy et al., 2009; van der Hart et al., 2006). One example of this is the notion that voice hearing differs in perceived location of the voices. In this view, voices in DID are believed to be experienced as originating from within the person (i.e., ego-syntonic) and as originating externally in schizophrenia (i.e., ego-dystonic) (Longden et al., 2012; Moskowitz & Corstens, 2008). However, research has not supported this assumption, indicating that a differential diagnosis based on characteristics of voice hearing is of limited validity (Copolov et al., 2004; Moskowitz & Corstens, 2008).

Dorahy et al. (2009) investigated differences and similarities in voice hearing in three groups of patients. They compared one group of schizophrenia patients without a history of childhood adversities, one group of schizophrenia patients with experience of childhood adversities, and a third group of patients with DID. The DID sample was more likely than both schizophrenia samples to experience voice hearing before the age of 18, to hear more than two different voices, and to experience both child and adult voices. The DID group also had a higher incidence of tactile and visual hallucinations than the schizophrenic groups (Dorahy et al., 2009).

Van der Hart et al. (2006) argue that voices heard by patients with a dissociative disorder are different from those in schizophrenic patients. The voices in DID are relational because they are thought to represent different parts of the patient's personality, and they are believed to be able to engage in conversations with other parts of the personality, or with the therapist. Voices in schizophrenia appear to be more fixed and repetitious than in DID (van der Hart et al., 2006). Tentative support for this view comes from the study of Dorahy et al. (2009). They found that patients with DID were more likely than schizophrenic patients to report voices conversing with them, and 70 % of the DID patients reported that they would miss the voices if they disappeared. In contrast, only 20 % of the patients with schizophrenia reported that they would miss their voices. The results indicate that voice hearing is more integrated in the identity of patients with DID compared to patients with schizophrenia (Dorahy et al., 2009). The finding that most of DID patients would miss their voices if they disappeared, is in line with van der Hart et al.'s (2006) notion of DID voices as more relationally engaging.

A new understanding of the relationship between auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia and DID has emerged from studies of dissociative processes in the etiology of voice hearing. Dissociative processes have been suggested to operate as a mediating factor between childhood adversities and voice hearing (Moskowitz &

Corstens, 2008; Pilton, Varese, Berry, & Bucci, 2015; Varese, Barkus, & Bentall, 2012). Van der Hart et al. (2006) explain the mediating role of dissociative processes according to the model of structural dissociation. The contents of the hallucinations are thought to reflect aspects of the traumatic event, i.e., the voice of the perpetrator. The dissociative (i.e., non-integrated) nature of traumatic experience (e.g., childhood adversities) makes patients experience its content as ego-dystonic, as not originating from their own experience. According to this model, voice hearing results from dissociative parts (EPs) that intrude into conscious awareness (ANP). As the patients have no recollection of having experienced the traumatic event when they are in the state of ANP, they might interpret the intrusion of EP as voices originating from external sources e.g. auditory hallucinations (van der Hart et al., 2006). This explanation contradicts the assumption of voices originating internally, or ego-syntonic, in patients with DID.

Voice hearing in schizophrenia and DID appear similar, and a substantial proportion of the normal population appear to experience voice hearing. Therefore, several researchers consider voice hearing as a dissociative experience, which under some conditions could have pathological consequences (Copolov et al., 2004; Moskowitz & Corstens, 2008).

**Delusions.** Delusions refer to culturally inappropriate beliefs about external reality that is firmly held by the patient, often in the face of contradicting proof (Moskowitz et al., 2009).

Examples of delusions are seen in delusions of thought withdrawal, which refer to the belief that thoughts are being removed from the person by some external force.

They also include delusions of thoughts being placed in the patient's mind (i.e., thought

insertion), and delusions about the body being controlled by an external force (i.e., delusion of control). These delusions are characteristic of schizophrenia, but it seems that at least two thirds of patients with DID also experience one of these symptoms (Ross, Heber, Norton, & Anderson, 1989; Ross et al., 1990). It has been suggested that dissociative processes contribute to the experience of delusions in both schizophrenia and DID (Goff, Brotman, Kindlon, Waites, & Amico, 1991; Moskowitz et al., 2005).

Interesting findings come from a study that investigated dissociation in a sample of schizophrenic patients with delusions of possession, a delusion of control (Goff et al., 1991). Results revealed that patients with this delusion scored significantly higher on measures of dissociation and also had higher levels of self-reported childhood trauma than schizophrenia patients without delusions of control. This finding supports the role of dissociative processes in delusions in some patients with schizophrenia. Moskowitz et al. (2009) argue that in DID, delusions are caused by the intrusion of an EP, which the ANP experiences as foreign. The ANP interprets the intrusion as the influence of an external force, and this is thought to cause delusional explanations for the event. This underlying dissociative process, similar to that proposed for explaining auditory hallucinations, could be assumed to contribute to delusions in some schizophrenic patients (Moskowitz et al., 2009).

**Disorganized and catatonic behavior.** Behavior is typically considered disorganized if others do not understand it. However, lack of understanding does not mean that the behavior is meaningless. Both patients with DID and schizophrenia that have a history of childhood adversities can experience flashbacks that can make them behave as if the traumatic situation is happening in the present (Read et al., 2005). If

others are not aware of the trauma-history, it is likely that this kind of behavior will be interpreted as disorganized, and therefore, psychotic (Moskowitz et al., 2009).

Similarly, it has been suggested that catatonia might reflect flashbacks to traumatic experiences in childhood (Moskowitz et al., 2009). In this view, catatonia is understood as a fear response in which the identity state that remembers the traumatic event intrudes into conscious awareness. This part of the personality is terrified and causes the body to freeze. These flashbacks will sometimes be unconscious as the event took place at an early time of life, when the memory system was not fully developed. Therefore, the memory of the traumatic event is not consolidated in the individual's autobiographical memory; it is implicit and decontextualized (Moskowitz et al., 2005; Moskowitz et al., 2009). This represents an alternative interpretation of disorganized and catatonic behavior. Although catatonia is generally considered to be a negative symptom, it can be conceived as a positive dissociative symptom; as an expression of unresolved trauma and non-integrated memories.

## **Negative Symptoms**

The negative symptoms of schizophrenia refer to an absence of normal behavior, and include social withdrawal, apathy and cognitive impairments (Buchanan, 2007). Negative dissociative symptoms are defined as "mental and physical phenomena that are not available to one or more parts of the personality, but are available to others" (van der Hart et al., 2006, p. 91). Such symptoms include dissociative amnesia, numbing, and depersonalization, among others. These symptoms have also been found in schizophrenic patients with a history of childhood adversities (Moskowitz et al., 2009). These definitions resemble each other in that they both refer to something that is missing or is unavailable to the individual.

Memory impairments and dissociative amnesia. Memory impairments are well documented in schizophrenia (Moskowitz et al., 2009). The general finding is that implicit memory appears to be intact, while explicit memory is impaired (Achim & Lepage, 2003; Corcoran & Frith, 2003; Linscott & Knight, 2001; Marie et al., 2001). A similar pattern in memory impairment have emerged in DID patients. In a meta-analysis of studies on memory dysfunction in DID, Dorahy (2001) concludes that research supports amnesia between different identity states regarding explicit knowledge, whereas there appears to be some transfer of implicit knowledge between identity states.

Dissociative amnesia is defined as one or more episodes in which the individual is unable to remember important personal information, usually of traumatic or stressful character (Jakobsen, 2006). It occurs in varying degrees in patients with DID (Dell, 2002; Dorahy, 2001) and implies a structural dissociation of the personality; the information may be available to one part of the personality, but not to another part (van der Hart et al., 2006). Thus some form of impairment in explicit memory have been found for both schizophrenia and DID. Memory impairments in DID are explained in terms of dissociative processes, and it has been suggested that similar processes may be at play in schizophrenics with a history of childhood adversities (Moskowitz et al., 2009). In line with this, Danion, Rizzo & Bruant (1999) have argued that the impairments in explicit memory demonstrated by schizophrenic patients arise from problems with combining all aspects of an event into a cohesive entirety. This resembles the un-integrated nature of memories of traumatic events in DID patients, and thus the impairments in explicit memory displayed by schizophrenic patients may be interpreted as a dissociative process.

Schizophrenic patients with impairments in explicit memory display more positive symptoms than patients without such memory deficits (Brébion et al., 1999; Vaz & Heinrichs, 2002). The positive symptoms most often associated with memory impairments in schizophrenia are delusions and thought disorder (Moskowitz et al., 2009). Moskowitz et al. (2009) argue that the dissociative symptom of depersonalization underlies delusions and thought disorder in schizophrenia, and is mediated by impairments in memory.

Disordered self-experience, ipseity disturbance, and depersonalization. The self is defined as "a mental capacity that allows an animal to take itself as the object of its own attention and to think consciously about itself" (Leary & Tangney, 2003, p. 6). The self is involved in people's experience of themselves, their perceptions, thoughts and feelings about themselves, and their deliberate efforts to regulate their own behavior (Leary & Tangney, 2003). Together, all these mental functions contribute to the individual's self-experience while being awake and conscious. A healthy self-concept means that the individual has a perception of itself as "a coherent and consistent living subject with a stable but flexible personal identity, delimited from others and able to integrate and control one's own thinking, feeling, perceiving and acting" (Scharfetter, 2008, p. 52).

In DID, the personality and the self are organized by withdrawal and division (Benum, 2006). The dissociated parts of the personality have their own schemas, reactions and language. The patient's personality is split into two or more parts, corresponding to innate psychobiological systems that attend to different functions (Nijenhuis et al., 2006). Personality, in this context, refers to a persistent pattern of perception, relations, and thinking about oneself and the environment (Benum, 2006),

and resembles the definition of self as the ability to self-reflect. Benum (2006) compares the self to a center for personal narrative operations, and describes the self as the connection between the 'autonomous me' and its attachment to its surroundings. In DID, the self-perception is disjointed and lacks narrative coherence, which leads to confusion about identity (Benum, 2006).

The concept of 'self' has a long history within the field of psychosis (Evans et al., 2015), and several authors have proposed that schizophrenia can be understood as a fragmentation of the self or a self-disorder (Sass & Parnas, 2003; Sass et al., 2013; Scharfetter, 2008). Abnormalities in the self or self-experience are not part of the diagnostic criteria for schizophrenia in DSM-V. However, the disorder involves marked changes in the individual's experience of subjectivity, and altered self-experience often occur in classical accounts of schizophrenia (Sass et al., 2013). According to Bleuler's description (as cited in Moskowitz, Nadel, Watts, & Jacobs, 2008), schizophrenia always involves a splitting, or fragmentation, of the self. It has been proposed that varying degrees of disrupted self-experience is the common factor in all the schizophrenic syndromes (Scharfetter, 2008).

Sass and Parnas (2003) propose that the core feature of schizophrenia is an ipseity disturbance. Ipseity can be conceived of as a form of 'minimal self' that is normally implicit in every act of awareness (Sass et al., 2013). It refers to the experience of being an experiencing subject with a first person perspective on the world (Sass & Parnas, 2003).

The ipseity disturbance described by Sass and Parnas (2003) involves two fundamental and complementary components; *hyper-reflexivity* and *diminishment of self-affection*. Hyper-reflexivity refers to a form of exaggerated self-consciousness in

which a subject experiences itself as a kind of external object. Diminishment of self-affection involves a diminishment of the sense of basic self-presence where the implicit sense of existing as a vital and self-possessed subject of awareness is affected. The disturbance of ipseity thus disrupts the individual's sense of being an experiencing subject, or self, oriented towards objects and the external environment (Sass et al., 2013). The component processes in Sass et al.'s (2013) ipseity disturbance may in some cases resemble the dissociative symptom of depersonalization.

Depersonalization is generally considered to be a dissociative symptom (Nijenhuis et al., 2006). It is an experience that involves a disrupted integration of self-perceptions with the sense of self, in which the individual experiences a sense of unreality and detachment from themselves (Hunter, Sierra, & David, 2004; Simeon, 2004). Common descriptions of depersonalization include the feeling of watching oneself from a distance, feeling disconnected from one's own thoughts, and feeling emotionally numbed or blunted (Simeon, 2004). This resembles the hyper-reflexivity and diminishment of self-affection described by Sass and Parnas (2003) in that the subject has an experience of being estranged from itself and its surroundings.

Depersonalization is common in traumatized individuals, and dissociative parts of the personality can experience symptoms of depersonalization from each other (van der Hart et al., 2006). One study found that patients with DID reported significantly more symptoms of depersonalization than healthy controls, patients with non-dissociative psychiatric disorders, and patients with other dissociative disorders than DID (Dell, 2002).

Little is known about the prevalence of depersonalization and its role in schizophrenia (Maggini, Raballo, & Salvatore, 2002). One study found

depersonalization to be frequent in a sample of chronic schizophrenics (Maggini et al., 2002). Another study found that depersonalization predicted hospitalization for psychosis (Therman et al., 2014). Møller, Haug, Raballo, Parnas, and Melle (2011) reported that among a cohort of 25 schizophrenic subjects, over 50 % reported experiencing symptoms of depersonalization.

Scharfetter (2008) argues that the fragmentation of the self in schizophrenia is a special form of dissociation, and he places the disorder on the most severe outer point of a continuum along with other 'non-cohesive' disorders, such as DID. Sass et al. (2013) also argue in favor of a continuum on which schizophrenia represents the most extreme endpoint. They conducted a study in which they assessed anomalies of self-experience in individuals demonstrating depersonalization, a common feature of DID, and compared these anomalies to the self-experiences of schizophrenics. They found several similarities in disrupted self-experience between patients with severe depersonalization and patients with schizophrenia. Among the similarities were changes in the quality of subjective experience and diminished sense of ownership over one's thoughts, feelings or bodily sensations (Sass et al., 2013). Despite the lack of delusional elaboration or hallucinatory experience in severely depersonalized individuals, these changes in self-experience resemble the first-rank symptoms of schizophrenia, and involve alterations in how the individual experiences the world, such as changed perception of time and disturbances in attention, that are also common in schizophrenia (Sass et al., 2013).

Despite the similarities in self-experience, Scharfetter (2008) argues that the fragmentation of the self, seen in many schizophrenic patients, is rarely observed in patients diagnosed with DID. He assumes that a highly unstable and fluctuating self, such as that observed in DID, is less disposed to ego-fragmentation, which he argues is

the most severe form of dissociation. This is because the instability and fluctuation in DID prevent the self from fragmentation. In line with this, Sass et al. (2013) also report several differences in self-experience between patients with depersonalization and schizophrenia. In their sample, depersonalized individuals do not appear to experience the same diffusion of boundaries between the self and the world as do schizophrenic individuals. Nor do they have the same tendency for grandiose ideas of controlling or creating the world. Sass et al. (2013) conclude that although the phenomenology of depersonalization includes some similarities to the disordered self-experience seen in schizophrenia, the difference lies in the notion that core features of psychosis are absent in depersonalized patients.

Research has indicated that dissociative processes could be involved in hallucinations, delusions, memory impairments, and disruptions of self-experience, often experienced by patients with schizophrenia (Moskowitz et al., 2005; Moskowitz & Corstens, 2008; Moskowitz et al., 2009). The importance of dissociative processes in schizophrenia is further supported by neurobiological findings demonstrating many of the same alterations in patients with DID and schizophrenia (Read et al., 2014; Read, Perry, Moskowitz, & Connolly, 2001).

### **Neurobiological Findings**

Structural and functional changes in the brain are well documented in research on both trauma and schizophrenia. Neurobiological findings have shed light on the impact of early traumatic experiences on the brain, and accumulating evidence support the notion that childhood adversities can alter the structure and the function of the developing brain (Anda et al., 2006; Weiss, 2007). The parts of the brain that are most sensitive to stress are the same parts that are of importance to survival in situations of

extreme threat (Bremner, 2002). The effects of childhood adversities on the brain involve alterations in specific regions of the brain, modifications in the HPA axis, and changes in neurotransmitter activity in the central nervous system (Weiss, 2007). In general, the neurobiological alterations associated with childhood adversities reflect a dysregulation that result in over- or under-activation of the implicated neural system, which can be linked to symptoms (Weiss, 2007) in schizophrenia and DID.

# Neurobiological Findins in People Exposed to Childhood Adversities

Research is accumulating on the neurobiology of dissociative responses in patients with dissociative disorders and PTSD (Dorahy et al., 2014). However, relatively little is known about the neural and psychological developmental processes that underlie DID (Forrest, 2001), and studies that directly target DID patients are still limited (Dorahy et al., 2014). However, it seems reasonable to assume that research conducted on persons that have been exposed to childhood adversities also applies to patients with DID, as traumatization is a central element in the development of the disorder. Much of the research on traumas' effect on the brain at different biological levels is compatible with the theory of structural dissociation of the personality (Jakobsen, 2006). A limited number of studies have investigated the neurobiology of patients diagnosed with DID, and some structural and functional alterations comprising orbitofrontal, cortical-limbic, and temporal areas of the brain are reported (Dorahy et al., 2014).

Brain regions associated with the limbic system are often altered in traumatized individuals (Jakobsen, 2006; Weiss, 2007). The hippocampus, a part of the limbic system, plays a critical role in learning and memory, and is sensitive to stress (Anda et al., 2006; Bremner, 2002). Reductions in hippocampal volume, particularly on the left

side (Read et al., 2014), are the most frequently reported finding in traumatized individuals (Jakobsen, 2006; Vermetten & Bremner, 2002b). Hippocampal activity has also been found to be affected in traumatized individuals, with decreased activation and lower levels of metabolism, especially during active recollection of traumatic memories (Bremner et al., 1999). Such hippocampal deficits may explain memory impairments related to traumatic experiences, for example an inability to remember certain details of the event, fragmentation of the memory, dissociative experiences or complete amnesia for the trauma (Weiss, 2007). In line with this, Vermetten, Schmahl, Lindner, Loewenstein, and Bremner (2006) found smaller hippocampal and amygdalar volume in patients with DID compared to healthy controls.

The HPA axis is the body's major response system for stressful events (Anda et al., 2006; Weiss, 2007). Dysregulation of the HPA axis has been found in people exposed to adverse experiences (Bremner, 2002; Jakobsen, 2006; Weiss, 2007). Early adverse experiences appear to make the HPA axis more sensitive (Gutman & Nemeroff, 2003), leading to excessive secretion of cortisol. In line with this, individuals exposed to adverse experiences have increased cortisol reactivity (Inslicht et al., 2006). When the brain is exposed consistently to high levels of cortisol, such as in prolonged or severe trauma, it becomes sensitized to psychologically threatening stimuli (Weiss, 2007).

Traumatic experiences also affect the activity of several neurotransmitters, partly due to the dysregulation of the HPA axis (Weiss, 2007). Among the neurotransmitters that have been found to be affected by childhood adversities are norepinephrine (Bremner, Krystal, Charney, & Southwick, 1996; Elzinga & Bremner, 2002), serotonin (Bremner, 2002; Matsumoto et al., 2005; Weiss, 2007), and dopamine (Read et al., 2014; Vermetten & Bremner, 2002a; Weiss, 2007). Norepinephrine contributes to

maintain alertness and sharpen focus in potentially dangerous situations, but this system becomes sensitized from repeated activation when the individual is exposed to chronic traumatic stress, adding to the hyperarousal (Bremner et al., 1996). In addition, norepinephrine contributes to strengthening of the neural networks underlying memories associated with the trauma (Elzinga & Bremner, 2002) and may contribute to positive dissociative symptoms such as intrusive memories and flashbacks (Weiss, 2007). Serotonin acts to calm and diminish anxiety in conditions of moderate stress (Bremner, 2005). However, Matsumoto et al. (2005) found that excessive elevation in serotonin levels in rats eventually result in serotonin depletion if the trauma is chronic or persistent. This reduced availability of serotonin then makes it more difficult for the central nervous system to dampen emotional responses to later stressors and may contribute to symptoms of hyperarousal in humans (Weiss, 2007). Higher concentrations of dopamine may impair the individual's capability for sensory processing and have been associated with feelings of depersonalization (Weiss, 2007).

## The Traumagenic Neurodevelopmental Model

Differences between the brains of people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia and healthy controls have often been cited in support of the hypothesis that schizophrenia is a brain disease (Read et al., 2014).

Read et al. (2001) noted that there are several similarities between the effects of traumatic events on the developing brain, and the biological abnormalities found in schizophrenic patients. Based on this finding, and findings that indicated a correlation between childhood adversities and schizophrenia, they launched the *traumagenic neurodevelopmental model* (TN) (Read et al., 2001). The TN model facilitates a more integrated approach to schizophrenia, hypothesizing that the high responsivity to stress

in some schizophrenics is caused by "abnormal neurodevelopmental processes originating in traumatic events in childhood" (Read et al., 2001, p. 320). The similarities between the brains of trauma-exposed individuals and patients with schizophrenia include overactivity of the HPA axis, abnormalities in the neurotransmitters dopamine, serotonin and norepinephrine, and structural differences such as hippocampal damage, cerebral atrophy, ventricular enlargements and reversed cerebral asymmetry (Read et al., 2014).

In line with the TN model, decreased hippocampal volume in schizophrenics has been found to be associated with childhood adversity (Hoy et al., 2012). Sheffield, Williams, Woodward, & Heckers (2013) found that prefrontal cortical volume loss was significantly correlated with childhood sexual abuse in a sample of patients with a psychotic disorder. Schäfer et al. (2008) argue that the biological alterations observed in schizophrenic patients such as hippocampal atrophy, may be driven by trauma.

Read et al. (2014) summarized the research published since 2001 on the TN model. One of the studies found that in a sample of patients with schizophrenia, those abused as children had greater HPA axis dysregulation, measured by cortisol levels, compared to their nonabused counterparts (Braehler et al., 2005). The results supported the TN model, and Read et al. (2014) conclude that the etiology of psychosis and schizophrenia is affected by psychosocial factors to the same extent as nonpsychotic disorders.

Despite the documented neurobiological alterations, biological sequelae to childhood adversities are not irreversible (Read et al., 2005). Research has generated optimism about the possibility that neurobiological alterations caused by childhood

trauma may be reversed by means of pharmacological and psychotherapeutic approaches (Weiss, 2007).

# A Dissociative Subtype of Schizophrenia

A dissociative subtype of schizophrenia has been suggested in order to explain the overlap in symptoms and features between dissociative disorders and schizophrenia (Ross, 2004). According to Ross (2004) a dissociative subtype of schizophrenia is indicated by the presence of at least three of the following: 1) dissociative amnesia, 2) depersonalization, 3) the presence of two or more distinct identities or personality states, 4) auditory hallucinations, 5) extensive comorbidity, and 6) severe childhood trauma.

It has been estimated that 25-40 % of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia could belong to the dissociative subtype category (Ross & Keyes, 2009; Sar et al., 2009). Ross & Keyes (2004) found and even higher proportion in a sample of individuals in treatment for schizophrenia; 60% of these patients had high scores on measures of dissociation and would fit the dissociative subtype group. Among these patients, Ross & Keyes (2004) found higher prevalence of childhood trauma and comorbidity, in support of Ross' (2004) criteria for the dissociative subtype.

A recent study (Laferrière-Simard, Lecomte, & Ahoundova, 2014) empirically tested Ross' (2004) six criteria in a sample of 50 patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. Although the authors contend some scpeticism towards the concept of a dissociative subtype of schizophrenia, they found that 24 % of the sample would fit with this category. The researchers suggest modifying the criteria for a dissociative subtype to at least one of the first three criteria (i.e., dissociative amnesia, depersonalization, and

two or more personality states), excluding criteria 4-6 (i.e., auditory hallucinations, comorbidity, and childhood trauma).

The dissociative subtype of schizophrenia is believed to share etiology with other trauma disorders, including DID and PTSD (Schäfer et al., 2008).

#### **Discussion**

Early descriptions of schizophrenia are similar to how dissociation is defined and described. Recent research points to childhood adversities being a central factor both in DID, and also in a considerable proportion of schizophrenic patients. Several symptoms characteristic of DID are observed in schizophrenic patients and vice versa (Foote & Park, 2008; Moskowitz et al., 2009), and similarities in neurobiological alterations in response to childhood adversities have emerged (Read et al., 2014). In light of these findings, dissociative processes in schizophrenia have received attention, and a dissociative subtype of schizophrenia has been proposed (Ross, 2004). On this basis, the paper argues that there are reasons to consider dissociative processes in the pathology of schizophrenia, and that this has substantial implications in the treatment of schizophrenia.

Research suggests that positive symptoms of schizophrenia, such as auditory hallucinations, delusions, and disorganized and catatonic behavior, can be conceived of as positive dissociative symptoms. In psychiatry, positive symptoms generally illustrate the schizophrenic mind's disordered ways of thinking and perceiving, and they represent something that is acquired, inconspicuous, and different compared to a non-psychotic mind (Videbech, Kjølbye, Sørensen, & Vestergaard, 2010). These symptoms have resemblance to what is referred to as positive dissociative symptoms in that there is something that intrudes or interrupts the mind that is different from the mind of a

healthy individual. Within a dissociative approach however, the symptoms are conceived of as something more than evidence for a disease, as the individual's history of trauma is taken into consideration.

About half to three quarters of schizophrenic patients have a history of childhood adversities (Bendall et al., 2008; Morgan & Fisher, 2007; Sar et al., 2009; Schalinski & Teicher, 2015; Spence et al., 2006). These traumatic experiences provide phenomenological meaning to the often assumed meaningless symptoms of these patients, and the symptoms can be interpreted as expressions of unresolved trauma (i.e. dissociation). The positive symptoms displayed by schizophrenics with a history of childhood adversities can be perceived as intrusions of emotional parts of the personality (EPs) into the apparently normal parts of the personality (ANP). In this way the symptoms may become more meaningful and understandable to the patient, and to the therapist.

The fact that schizophrenic patients often display memory impairments provides support for this interpretation. If the patient has a history of childhood adversities, not necessarily available to conscious memory, then flashbacks may resemble, or be interpreted as, hallucinations or delusions. One hypothesis holds that the odd sensations, perceptions, or emotions associated with prodromal, or 'pre-psychotic', experiences derive from early affective experiences, which are not consciously recalled by the individual (Moskowitz et al., 2008). The memories of these experiences are decontextualized, and the authors suggest that delusions may rise from the individual's attempt to make sense of these weird experiences. Decontextualized memories refer to affectively charged memories that lack spatial and temporal context (Moskowitz et al., 2008). Memories of early traumatic experiences may be decontextualized due to

impaired functioning of the hippocampus (information of time and place is not encoded) and potentiated activity of the amygdala (emotional valence is encoded) at the time of the event (Moskowitz et al., 2008). This hypothesis represents a possible explanation of the developmental pathway from childhood adversities to delusional thinking in schizophrenia. The mechanisms inferred in this hypothesis are in line with the assumption that dissociative processes may mediate delusions by means of EPs intruding into ANP. Flashbacks to traumatic experiences that are not integrated in the patient's autobiograpical memory are often interpreted as meaningless delusions. This calls for a more trauma-oriented way of interpreting the symptoms of schizophrenia, and such an interpretation may be useful in providing the patient with the tools for understanding and integrating his or her own trauma history.

Both DID and schizophrenia appear to involve some degree of disordered self-experience. However, the altered self-experience differs in certain aspects between the disorders. DID appears to involve more confusion related to own identity, perhaps as a consequence of amnesia for, and depersonalization from, events occurring between different states of consciousness. Schizophrenia on the other hand, seems to involve a larger extent of fragmentation within the self, with insecurity about one's own boundaries and lacking a coherent and consistent 'core'. Despite the differences that have emerged in altered self-experience between dissociative patients and schizophrenics, depersonalization has been found to be present in schizophrenic patients (Møller et al., 2011). The fragmented self of schizophrenic patients resembles depersonalization in DID, and the alterations in self-experience may be placed on a continuum, as proposed by Scharfetter (2008). This could indicate quantitative rather

than qualitative differences between the disordered self-experience of DID patients and schizophrenics.

It has been suggested that an important distinction between DID and schizophrenia is that the ability to reality testing is more intact in patients with DID, compared to schizophrenic patients (Steinberg, 1995). In extension of this, Moskowitz et al. (2009) propose that dissociative processes such as depersonalization, amnesia, and switching to another personality state, enable DID patients to distance themselves from traumatic experiences to a larger extent than schizophrenic patients. Schizophrenic patients, they argue, may be more inclined to form delusional explanations for such experiences. Others have argued that there is no clear difference between DID and schizophrenia when it comes to reality testing abilities, and that both disorders involve difficulties in distinguishing between internal and external reality (Schäfer et al., 2008).

Measured by the Rorschach Comprehensive System, Brand, Armstrong, Loewenstein, and McNary (2009) compared the personality profiles of patients with DID and patients with psychotic disorders. The psychotic sample consisted of patients with different psychotic disorders; the majority (60 %) had schizophrenia. They found that the patients with DID generally had greater capacity for collaborating with others, and for self-reflection, as well as better ability to modulate affect than the psychotic patients. These differences have been used by Moskowitz et al. (2009) to argue that patients with DID are better able to differentiate fantasy from reality than schizophrenic patients.

In addition to the differences in collaborating abilities, self-reflection, and affect modulation, Brand et al. (2009) found similar levels of social misunderstanding among DID and psychotic patients. They argue that although similar, the origin of this

a history of inter-relational trauma, often associated with attachment persons. Their ambivalence towards closeness with others may arise from their learned experience that attachment persons are both the source of comfort and terror (Liotti, 2004). Brand et al. (2009) argue that the origin of the tendency for social misunderstanding in psychotic disorders, i.e., schizophrenia, lies in their inability to tolerate closeness with others due to boundary diffusion (Quinlan & Harrow, 1974) and the lack of a 'core' self (Sass & Parnas, 2003). Based on the possible different etiology of social misunderstandings, Brand et al. (2009) argue that this issue should be addressed with different therapeutic interventions in treatment of DID and schizophrenic patients, respectively. However, for schizophrenic patients with a history of inter-relational trauma and attachment experiences such as those inferred in DID, the origin of social misunderstandings may be similar for the two disorders. If this is the case, then schizophrenic patients with a history of childhood adversities may benefit from therapeutic interventions that are similar to those for DID patients to address the tendency for social misunderstandings.

As mentioned previously, it has been proposed that childhood adversities can contribute to the development of schizophrenia via the mediating role of dissociation (Moskowitz, 2011). This mediation can be explained in terms of disorganized attachment (Liotti & Gumley, 2008). Disorganized attachment may evolve as a consequence of repeated fright without flight situations, or chronic traumatization. This form of attachment creates a tendency in the individual to react to later traumas with dissociation and fragmentation of the self (Liotti, 2004). Liotti and Gumley (2008) suggest that this increases the risk for development of disorders that are associated with a fragmented sense of self, such as DID, but also perhaps schizophrenia.

The traumagenic neurodevelopmental model continues to gain support (Read et al., 2014). Early and severe traumatization increases the risk of schizophrenia and psychosis by generating oversensitivity to later emotional stress (Read et al., 2005). In addition, the documentation of similarities in brain alterations between individuals exposed to trauma and schizophrenics is growing (Read et al., 2014). These findings have implications for the treatment of schizophrenia. Read et al. (2014) point out that the neurobiological changes that occur in response to childhood trauma can be reversed. Research has demonstrated that providing a rich environment (Nemeroff, 2004) and psychotherapy (Fuchs, 2004) can reverse some of the consequences of trauma in the developing brain. Furthermore, neurobiological changes have been documented after cognitive behavior treatment of patients with several non-psychotic disorders (Jokić-Begić, 2010). This could be assumed to apply to schizophrenics with a history of childhood adversities as well. Some individuals do not respond to antipsychotic medication and standard care, and Schäfer et al. (2008) have suggested that these individuals could fit Ross' (2004) dissociative subtype of schizophrenia. In line with this, a recent study found that adverse childhood experiences were associated with resistance to antipsychotic medication in a sample of schizophrenia patients (Hassan & De Luca, 2015). This indicates that a subgroup of schizophrenia patients with a history of childhood adversities may benefit from a treatment that incorporates psychotherapeutic approaches to traumatic experiences.

The benefit and validity of introducing a dissociative subtype of schizophrenia has been questioned (Laferrière-Simard et al., 2014). Although they do highlight the need for a larger recognition of dissociation, Laferrière-Simard et al. (2014) argue that the introduction of a dissociative subtype of schizophrenia seems premature, as all

subtypes of schizophrenia have recently been removed from DSM-V due to their lack of validity. Ross (2008) on the other hand, argues that the introduction of a dissociative subtype of schizophrenia is important for increasing the recognition of dissociative symptoms in schizophrenia among clinicians. Furthermore, a dissociative subtype could provide patients with much needed trauma-focused therapy (Ross, 2008).

Bleuler's (as cited in Schäfer et al., 2008) four A's of schizophrenia (i.e., ambivalence, autism, associations, and affect) corresponds to a trauma-dissociation model of schizophrenia (Schäfer et al., 2008). The ambivalence could have its origin in the development of a disorganized attachment system as a response to continuous exposure to fright without flight situations with an abusive caregiver. The autism could be derived from withdrawal to an internal fantasy world in order to escape the horrors of the outside world. Loosening of associations could reflect the thinking of a child-personality state that is fixated in a traumatic memory. The expression of inapropriate affect is possibly due to intrusions from non-integrated memories, causing the affect expressed to not be in line with the present reality. The loosening of associations and inappropriate affect resembles the dissociative processes that have been proposed to contribute to development of positive symptoms (Schäfer et al., 2008). An important implication of this is that some schizophrenic patients may respond to psychotherapeutical approaches to trauma (Schäfer et al., 2008).

The high prevalence of childhood adversities among patients diagnosed with schizophrenia calls for increased focus on trauma history when diagnosing and treating these patients. However, studies have shown a tendency among employees in mental health services to avoid asking patients about childhood adversities (Rossiter et al., 2015), and this tendency is even more profound when the patient has a diagnosis of

schizophrenia (Agar & Read, 2002; Young, Read, Barker-Collo, & Harrison, 2001). A recent study (Read, Sampson, & Critchley, 2016) showed that this tendency is still prevalent in mental health services. Adding to this problem is a lack of updated knowledge about the adverse effects of childhood maltreatment in many textbooks aimed at health professionals (Wilgus, Packer, Lile-King, Miller-Perrin, & Brand, 2016). This indicates that patients with schizophrenia are not asked about experiences of childhood trauma when they receive treatment.

This paper has investigated dissociative processes that might contribute to the pathology of schizophrenia. Following this line of reasoning, psychotherapy aimed at integrating dissociative memories of traumatic experiences could be important in treating schizophrenic patients with a history of childhood adversities. There is an endorsement among therapists working with DID patients of a phase-oriented approach in which the treatment goal is a higher degree of integration of the alter identities of the patient (International Society for the Study of Trauma and Dissociation, 2011). A similar phase-designed treatment has been suggested by Ross (2004) in the treatment of schizophrenic patients with a history of childhood trauma. Promising results were obtained when this treatment was administered to a sample of DID patients, of which 66,7 % met the criteria for schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder (Ellason & Ross, 1997). Ross (2004) argues that these treatment outcomes lend support for the inclusion of a phase-oriented trauma approach in the treatment of schizophrenic patients with a history of childhood adversities.

It has also been suggested that mentalization-based psychodynamic psychotherapy could be effective in treatment of schizophrenia patients with a history of childhood trauma. Mentalization-based psychotherapy could be valuable in treatment of

self-disturbances in schizophrenia patients with its focus on awareness of the self and others (Brent, 2009). Even though some therapeutic approaches aimed at treatment of childhood traumas in psychotic and schizophrenic patients have gathered promising results, no clear guidelines of how to treat reactions to childhood adversitites in patients with a psychotic disorder exist today (Cotter, Kaess, & Yung, 2015).

#### Conclusion

Some cases of schizophrenia may be understood as a trauma-related disorder, in which the symptoms can be interpreted as meaningful expressions of un-integrated traumatic experiences.

Based on findings of high levels of dissociative symptoms and childhood adversities among many schizophrenic patients, measures of childhood adversities and dissociative symptoms should be integrated in assessment of patients with a tentative schizophrenia diagnosis. Furthermore, it is important to increase knowledge about the possible adverse effects of childhood trauma to health professionals working with these patients. If a trauma history is revealed, trauma-focused treatment should be considered a part of the treatment.

## Takk til

Tusen takk til vår veileder Kjersti Arefjord for tett oppfølging og gode råd. Kjersti har vært fleksibel og tilgjengelig for oss gjennom hele prosessen, og vi har fått grundige og raske tilbakemeldinger. Det har vært engasjerende for oss å jobbe med en som har vist så mye entusiasme overfor vårt prosjekt.

Vi vil også takke hverandre for et godt samarbeid og en lærerik prosess. Vi opplever at kunnskapen vi har tilegnet oss i arbeidet med denne oppgaven har gitt oss et perspektiv vi kan ha mye nytte av som fremtidige psykologer.

#### References:

- Achim, A. M., & Lepage, M. (2003). Is associative recognition more impaired than item recognition memory in Schizophrenia? A meta-analysis. *Brain and cognition*, 53, 121-124. doi:10.1016/S0278-2626(03)00092-7
- Aderibigbe, Y. A., Theodoridis, D., & Vieweg, W. V. R. (1999). Dementia praecox to schizophrenia: The first 100 years. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *53*, 437-448. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1819.1999.00584.x
- Agar, K., & Read, J. (2002). What happens when people disclose sexual or physical abuse to staff at a community mental health centre? *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 11, 70-79. doi:10.1046/j.1440-0979.2002.00230.x
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. N. (1978). *Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the Strange Situation*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Akyuz, G., Sar, V., Kugu, N., & Doğan, O. (2005). Reported childhood trauma, attempted suicide and self-mutilative behavior among women in the general population. *European Psychiatry*, 20, 268-273. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2005.01.002
- Akyüz, G., Doğan, O., Şar, V., Yargiç, L. I. I., & Tutkun, H. (1999). Frequency of dissociative identity disorder in the general population in Turkey.
   Comprehensive Psychiatry, 40, 151-159. doi:10.1016/S0010-440X(99)90120-7
- Allen, J. G., Huntoon, J., & Evans, R. B. (1999). Complexities in complex posttraumatic stress disorder in inpatient women: Evidence from cluster analysis of MCMI-III personality disorder scales. *Journal of personality assessment*, 73, 449-471. doi:10.1207/S15327752JPA7303 10

- Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Bremner, J. D., Walker, J. D., Whitfield, C., Perry, B. D., . . . Giles, W. H. (2006). The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 256, 174-186. doi:10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4
- Arseneault, L., Cannon, M., Witton, J., & Murray, R. M. (2004). Causal association between cannabis and psychosis: Examination of the evidence. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *184*, 110-117. doi:10.1192/bjp.184.2.110
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Bakken, T. L., Eilertsen, D. E., Smeby, N. A., & Martinsen, H. (2009). The Validity of Disorganized Behavior as an Indicator of Schizophrenia in Adults With Autism and Intellectual Disability: A Single Case Study. *Mental Health Aspects of Developmental Disabilities*, 12, 17-22.
- Bendall, S., Jackson, H. J., Hulbert, C. A., & McGorry, P. D. (2008). Childhood trauma and psychotic disorders: A systematic, critical review of the evidence.

  Schizophrenia Bulletin, 34, 568-579. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbm121
- Benum, K. (2006). Når tilknytningen blir traumatisert. En psykologisk forståelse av relasjonstraumer og dissosiasjon. In T. Anstorp, K. Benum, & M. Jakobsen (Eds.), *Dissosiasjon og relasjonstraumer: Integrering av det splittede jeg* (pp. 22-42). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Bernstein, E. M., & Putnam, F. W. (1986). Development, reliability, and validity of a dissociation scale. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 174, 727-735. doi:10.1097/00005053-198612000-00004

- Blizard, R. A. (2003). Disorganized attachment, development of dissociated self states, and a relational approach to treatment. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 4, 27-50. doi:10.1300/J229v04n03\_03
- Bowlby, J. (1969). *Attachment and loss. 1. Attachment* (Vol. 1). New York: Basic Books.
- Braehler, C., Holowka, D., Brunet, A., Beaulieu, S., Baptista, T., Debruille, J.-B., . . . King, S. (2005). Diurnal cortisol in schizophrenia patients with childhood trauma. *Schizophrenia Research*, *79*, 353-354. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2004.07.007
- Brand, B. L., Armstrong, J. G., Loewenstein, R. J., & McNary, S. W. (2009).
  Personality differences on the Rorschach of dissociative identity disorder,
  borderline personality disorder, and psychotic inpatients. *Psychological Trauma:*Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 1, 188-205. doi:10.1037/a0016561
- Brébion, G., Amador, X., Smith, M. J., Malaspina, D., Sharif, Z., & Gorman, J. M. (1999). Opposite links of positive and negative symptomatology with memory errors in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research*, 88, 15-24. doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(99)00076-1
- Bremner, J. D. (2002). *Does stress damage the brain? Understanding trauma-related disorders from a mind-body perspective*. New York: WW Norton & Company.
- Bremner, J. D. (2005). Effects of traumatic stress on brain structure and function:

  Relevance to early responses to trauma. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 6,

  51-68. doi:10.1300/J229v06n02\_06
- Bremner, J. D., Krystal, J. H., Charney, D. S., & Southwick, S. M. (1996). Neural mechanisms in dissociative amnesia for childhood abuse. *The American Journal*

- of Psychiatry, 153, 71-82. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/220466936?accountid=8579
- Bremner, J. D., Staib, L. H., Kaloupek, D., Southwick, S. M., Soufer, R., & Charney, D. S. (1999). Neural correlates of exposure to traumatic pictures and sound in Vietnam combat veterans with and without posttraumatic stress disorder: A positron emission tomography study. *Biological psychiatry*, 45, 806-816. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(98)00297-2
- Brent, B. (2009). Mentalization-based psychodynamic psychotherapy for psychosis. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65, 803-814. doi:10.1002/jclp.20615
- Buchanan, R. W. (2007). Persistent negative symptoms in schizophrenia: An overview. *Schizophrenia Bulletin, 33*, 1013-1022. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbl057
- Cannon, M., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T. E., Harrington, H., Taylor, A., Murray, R. M., & Poulton, R. (2002). Evidence for early-childhood, pan-developmental impairment specific to schizophreniform disorder: Results from a longitudinal birth cohort. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *59*, 449-456. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.59.5.449.
- Cardno, A. G., Marshall, E. J., Coid, B., Macdonald, A. M., Ribchester, T. R., Davies,
  N. J., . . . Sham, P. C. (1999). Heritability estimates for psychotic disorders: The
  Maudsley twin psychosis series. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *56*, 162-168.
  doi:10.1001/archpsyc.56.2.162
- Copolov, D., Trauer, T., & Mackinnon, A. (2004). On the non-significance of internal versus external auditory hallucinations. *Schizophrenia Research*, 69, 1-6. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(03)00092-6

- Corcoran, R., & Frith, C. D. (2003). Autobiographical memory and theory of mind:

  Evidence of a relationship in schizophrenia. *Psychological Medicine*, *33*, 897-905. doi:10.1017/S0033291703007529
- Cotter, J., Kaess, M., & Yung, A. (2015). Childhood trauma and functional disability in psychosis, bipolar disorder and borderline personality disorder: A review of the literature. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine, 32*, 21-30. doi:10.1017/ipm.2014.74
- Coyle, J. T. (2006). Glutamate and schizophrenia: Beyond the dopamine hypothesis.

  \*Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology, 26, 363-382. doi:10.1007/s10571-006-9062-8
- Dalenberg, C. J., Brand, B. L., Gleaves, D. H., Dorahy, M. J., Loewenstein, R. J., Cardeña, E., . . . Spiegel, D. (2012). Evaluation of the evidence for the trauma and fantasy models of dissociation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *138*, 550-588. doi:10.1037/a0027447
- David, A. S. (1999). Auditory hallucinations: Phenomenology, neuropsychology and neuroimaging update. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *99*, 95-104. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1999.tb05988.x
- Danion, J.-M., Rizzo, L., & Bruant, A. (1999). Functional mechanisms underlying impaired recognition memory and conscious awareness in patients with schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *56*, 639-644. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.56.7.639
- Dell, P. F. (2002). Dissociative phenomenology of dissociative identity disorder. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 190, 10-15. Retriewed from

- http://journals.lww.com/jonmd/Abstract/2002/01000/Dissociative\_Phenomenology\_of\_Dissociative.3.aspx
- Dorahy, M. J. (2001). Dissociative identity disorder and memory dysfunction: The current state of experimental research and its future directions. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 21, 771-795. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(00)00068-4
- Dorahy, M. J., Brand, B. L., Şar, V., Krüger, C., Stavropoulos, P., Martínez-Taboas, A., . . . Middleton, W. (2014). Dissociative identity disorder: An empirical overview. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 48, 402-417. doi:10.1177/0004867414527523
- Dorahy, M. J., Shannon, C., Seagar, L., Corr, M., Stewart, K., Hanna, D., . . . Middleton, W. (2009). Auditory hallucinations in dissociative identity disorder and schizophrenia with and without a childhood trauma history: Similarities and differences. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *3*, 892-898. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181c299ea
- Ellason, J. W., & Ross, C. A. (1995). Positive and negative symptoms in dissociative identity disorder and schizophrenia: A comparative analysis. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *183*, 236-241. Retriewed from http://journals.lww.com/jonmd/abstract/1995/04000/positive\_and\_negative\_sym ptoms in dissociative.9.aspx
- Ellason, J. W., & Ross, C. A. (1997). Two-year follow-up of inpatients with dissociative identity disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *154*, 832-839. doi:10.1176/ajp.154.6.832

- Elzinga, B. M., & Bremner, J. D. (2002). Are the neural substrates of memory the final common pathway in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD)? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 70, 1-17. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(01)00351-2
- Evans, G. J., Reid, G., Preston, P., Palmier-Claus, J., & Sellwood, W. (2015). Trauma and psychosis: The mediating role of self-concept clarity and dissociation.

  \*Psychiatry Research, 228, 626-632. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.053
- Floris, J., & McPherson, S. (2015). Fighting the whole system: Dissociative identity disorder, labeling theory, and Iatrogenic doubting. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, *16*, 476-493. doi:10.1080/15299732.2014.990075
- Foote, B., & Park, J. (2008). Dissociative identity disorder and schizophrenia:

  Differential diagnosis and theoretical issues. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 10, 217-222. doi: 10.1007/s11920-008-0036-z
- Foote, B., Smolin, Y., Kaplan, M., Legatt, M. E., & Lipschitz, D. (2006). Prevalence of dissociative disorders in psychiatric outpatients. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *163*, 623-629. doi:10.1176/ajp.2006.163.4.623
- Forero, D. A., Herteleer, L., De Zutter, S., Norrback, K.-F., Nilsson, L.-G., Adolfsson, R., . . . Del-Favero, J. (in press). A network of synaptic genes associated with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Schizophrenia Research*. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.02.012
- Fuchs, T. (2004). Neurobiology and psychotherapy: An emerging dialogue. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry, 17*, 479-485. Retriewed from http://journals.lww.com/co-psychiatry/Abstract/2004/11000/Neurobiology\_and\_psychotherapy\_\_an\_emerging.10.aspx

- Gergely, G., Fonagy, P., Jurist, E., & Target, M. (2002). *Affect regulation, mentalization, and the development of the self.* New York: Other Press.
- Goff, D. C., Brotman, A. W., Kindlon, D., Waites, M., & Amico, E. (1991). The delusion of possession in chronically psychotic patients. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 179, 567-571. Retriewed from http://journals.lww.com/jonmd/Abstract/1991/09000/The\_Delusion\_of\_Possession\_in\_Chronically.9.aspx
- Gutman, D. A., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2003). Persistent central nervous system effects of an adverse early environment: Clinical and preclinical studies. *Physiology & Behavior*, 79, 471-478. doi:10.1016/S0031-9384(03)00166-5
- Hassan, A. N., & De Luca, V. (2015). The effect of lifetime adversities on resistance to antipsychotic treatment in schizophrenia patients. *Schizophrenia Research*, *161*, 496-500. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.048
- Hesse, E., & Main, M. (2000). Disorganized infant, child, and adult attachment:
   Collapse in behavioral and attentional strategies. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 48, 1097-1127.
   doi:10.1177/00030651000480041101
- Holmes, J. (2004). Disorganized attachment and borderline personality disorder: A clinical perspective. *Attachment & Human Development*, *6*, 181-190. doi:10.1080/14616730410001688202
- Holowka, D. W., King, S., Saheb, D., Pukall, M., & Brunet, A. (2003). Childhood abuse and dissociative symptoms in adult schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 60, 87-90. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00296-7

- Hoy, K., Barrett, S., Shannon, C., Campbell, C., Watson, D., Rushe, T., . . . Mulholland,
  C. (2012). Childhood trauma and hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in first-episode psychosis. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 38, 1162-1169.
  doi:10.1093/schbul/sbr085
- Hunter, E. C., Sierra, M., & David, A. S. (2004). The epidemiology of depersonalisation and derealisation. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *39*, 9-18. doi:10.1007/s00127-004-0701-4
- Insel, T. R. (2010). Rethinking schizophrenia. *Nature*, *468*, 187-193. doi:10.1038/nature09552
- Inslicht, S. S., Marmar, C. R., Neylan, T. C., Metzler, T. J., Hart, S. L., Otte, C., . . . Baum, A. (2006). Increased cortisol in women with intimate partner violence-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *31*, 825-838. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.03.007
- International Society for the Study of Trauma and Dissociation. (2011). Guidelines for treating dissociative identity disorder in adults, third revision. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 12, 115-187. doi:10.1080/15299732.2011.537247
- Jakobsen, M. (2006). Kroppen husker. Nevrobiologisk kunnskap om traumetilstander. In T. Anstorp, K. Benum, & M. Jakobsen (Eds.), *Dissosiasjon og relasjonstraumer: Integrering av det splittede jeg* (pp. 43-59). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Jakobsen, M., Benum, K., & Anstorp, T. (2006). Dissosiasjon noen diagnostiske overveielser. Kritiske innspill og kliniske erfaringer. In T. Anstorp, K. Benum,
  & M. Jakobsen (Eds.), *Dissosiasjon og relasjonstraumer: Integrering av det splittede jeg* (pp. 89-101). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

- Janssen, I., Krabbendam, L., Bak, M., Hanssen, M., Vollebergh, W., Graaf, R. d., & Os, J. v. (2004). Childhood abuse as a risk factor for psychotic experiences. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 109, 38-45. doi:10.1046/j.0001-690X.2003.00217.x
- Jokić-Begić, N. (2010). Cognitive-behavioral therapy and neuroscience: Towards closer integration. *Psihologijske Teme, 19*, 235-254. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1017876293?accountid=8579
- Kendler, K. S., McGuire, M., Gruenberg, A. M., O'Hare, A., Spellman, M., & Walsh, D. (1993). The Roscommon family study: I. Methods, diagnosis of probands, and risk of schizophrenia in relatives. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 50, 527-540. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1993.01820190029004
- Kirby, J. S., Chu, J. A., & Dill, D. L. (1993). Correlates of dissociative symptomatology in patients with physical and sexual abuse histories. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 34, 258-263. doi:10.1016/0010-440X(93)90008-R
- Laferrière-Simard, M.-C., Lecomte, T., & Ahoundova, L. (2014). Empirical testing of criteria for dissociative schizophrenia. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, *15*, 91-107. doi:10.1080/15299732.2013.834860
- Leary, M. R., & Tangney, J. P. (2003). The self as an organizing construct in the behavioral and social sciences. In M. R. Leary & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *Handbook of self and identity: Second edition* (pp. 3-14). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Linscott, R. J., & Knight, R. G. (2001). Automatic hypermnesia and impaired recollection in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychology*, *15*, 576-585. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.15.4.576
- Liotti, G. (2004). Trauma, dissociation, and disorganized attachment: Three strands of a

- single braid. *Psychotherapy: Theory, research, practice, training, 41*, 472-480. doi:10.1037/0033-3204.41.4.472
- Liotti, G., & Gumley, A. (2008). An attachment perspective on schizophrenia: The role of disorganized attachment, dissociation and mentalization. In A. Moskowitz, I. Schäfer, & M. J. Dorahy (Eds.), *Psychosis, trauma and dissociation: Emerging perspectives on severe psychopathology* (pp. 117-133). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Longden, E., Madill, A., & Waterman, M. G. (2012). Dissociation, trauma, and the role of lived experience: Toward a new conceptualization of voice hearing.

  \*Psychological Bulletin, 138, 28-76. doi:10.1037/a0025995
- Maggini, C., Raballo, A., & Salvatore, P. (2002). Depersonalization and basic symptoms in schizophrenia. *Psychopathology*, *35*, 17-24. doi:10.1159/000056211
- Main, M. (1991). Metacognitive knowledge, metacognitive monitoring, and singular (coherent) versus multiple (incoherent) models of attachment. In C. Parkes, J. Stevenson-Hinde, & P. Marris (Eds.), *Attachment across the life cycle* (pp. 127-159). London, UK: Routledge.
- Main, M. (1995). Recent studies in attachment: Overview, with selected implications for clinical work. In S. Goldberg, R. Muir, & J. Kerr (Eds.), *Attachment theory: Social, developmental and clinical perspectives* (pp. 407-474). New Jersey: The Analytic Press.
- Main, M., & Hesse, E. (1990). Parents' unresolved traumatic experiences are related to infant disorganized attachment status: Is frightened and/or frightening parental behavior the linking mechanism? In M. Greenberg, D. Cicchetti, & E.

- Cummings (Eds.), *Attachment in the preschool years* (pp. 161-182). Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Main, M., & Solomon, J. (1986). Discovery of an insecure-disorganized/disoriented attachment pattern: Procedures, findings and implications for classifications of behavior. In T. Brazelton & M. Yogman (Eds.), *Affective development in infancy* (pp. 95-124). Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Marie, A., Gabrieli, J. D., Vaidya, C., Brown, B., Pratto, F., Zajonc, R., & Shaw, R. J.
  (2001). The mere exposure effect in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 27, 297-303. Retriewed from <a href="http://psycnet.apa.org/journals/szb/27/2/297.pdf">http://psycnet.apa.org/journals/szb/27/2/297.pdf</a>
- Matheson, S., Shepherd, A., Pinchbeck, R., Laurens, K., & Carr, V. (2013). Childhood adversity in schizophrenia: A systematic meta-analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 43, 225-238. doi:10.1017/S0033291712000785
- Matsumoto, M., Higuchi, K., Togashi, H., Koseki, H., Yamaguchi, T., Kanno, M., & Yoshioka, M. (2005). Early postnatal stress alters the 5-HTergic modulation to emotional stress at postadolescent periods of rats. *Hippocampus*, *15*, 775-781. doi:10.1002/hipo.20100
- McGrath, J. (1991). Ordering thoughts on thought disorder. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 307-316. doi:10.1192/bjp.158.3.307
- Mercer, J. (2006). *Understanding attachment: Parenting, child care, and emotional development*. California: Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Merckelbach, H., Devilly, G. J., & Rassin, E. (2002). Alters in dissociative identity disorder: Metaphors or genuine entities? *Clinical Psychology Review*, 22, 481-497. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(01)00115-5

- Merckelbach, H., & Muris, P. (2001). The causal link between self-reported trauma and dissociation: A critical review. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *39*, 245-254. doi:10.1016/S0005-7967(99)00181-3
- Morgan, C., & Fisher, H. (2007). Environment and schizophrenia: Environmental factors in schizophrenia: Childhood trauma—A critical review. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 33, 3-10. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbl053
- Morrison, A. P., Frame, L., & Larkin, W. (2003). Relationships between trauma and psychosis: A review and integration. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 42, 331-353. doi:10.1348/014466503322528892
- Moskowitz, A. (2011). Schizophrenia, trauma, dissociation, and scientific revolutions. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation, 12*, 347-357.

  doi:10.1080/15299732.2011.573770
- Moskowitz, A., Barker-Collo, S., & Ellson, L. (2005). Replication of dissociation-psychosis link in New Zealand students and inmates. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 193, 722-727. doi:10.1097/01.nmd.0000185895.47704.62
- Moskowitz, A., & Corstens, D. (2008). Auditory hallucinations: Psychotic symptom or dissociative experience? *Journal of Psychological Trauma*, *6*, 35-63. doi:10.1300/J513v06n02\_04
- Moskowitz, A., Nadel, L., Watts, P., & Jacobs, W. J. (2008). Delusional atmosphere, the psychotic prodrome and decontextualized memories. In A. Moskowitz, I. Schäfer, & M. J. Dorahy (Eds.), *Psychosis, trauma and dissociation: Emerging perspectives on severe psychopathology* (pp. 65-78). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

- Moskowitz, A., Read, J., Farrelly, S., Rudegeair, T., & Williams, O. (2009). Are psychotic symptoms traumatic in origin and dissociative in kind? In P. F. Dell & J. A. O'Neil (Eds.), *Dissociation and the dissociative disorders: DSM-V and beyond* (pp. 521-534). New York: Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.
- Muenzenmaier, K. H., Seixas, A. A., Schneeberger, A. R., Castille, D. M., Battaglia, J., & Link, B. G. (2015). Cumulative effects of stressful childhood experiences on delusions and hallucinations. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 16, 442-462. doi:10.1080/15299732.2015.1018475
- Mulder, R. T., Beautrais, A. L., Joyce, P. R., & Fergusson, D. M. (1998). Relationship between dissociation, childhood sexual abuse, childhood physical abuse, and mental illness in a general population sample. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 155, 806-811. doi:10.1176/ajp.155.6.806
- Mäki, P., Veijola, J., Jones, P. B., Murray, G. K., Koponen, H., Tienari, P., . . .

  Koskinen, J. (2005). Predictors of schizophrenia-A review. *British Medical Bulletin*, 73, 1-15. doi:10.1093/bmb/ldh046
- Møller, P., Haug, E., Raballo, A., Parnas, J., & Melle, I. (2011). Examination of anomalous self-experience in first-episode psychosis: interrater reliability. *Psychopathology*, *44*, 386-390. doi:10.1159/000325173
- National Institute of Mental Health (2016a). Schizophrenia. Retriewd from http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/schizophrenia-booklet-12-2015/index.shtml
- National Institute of Mental Health (2016b). Schizophrenia. Retriewed from http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/schizophrenia/index.shtml

- Nemeroff, C. B. (2004). Neurobiological consequences of childhood trauma. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 65, 1,478-428. Retriewed from http://www.psychiatrist.com/JCP/article/Pages/2004/v65s01/v65s0104.aspx
- Nijenhuis, E., & van der Hart, O. (2011). Dissociation in trauma: A new definition and comparison with previous formulations. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, *12*, 416-445. doi:10.1080/15299732.2011.570592
- Nijenhuis, E., van der Hart, O., & Steele, K. (2006). Traumerelatert strukturell dissosiasjon av personligheten. Teoretisk forståelse og begrepsavklaring. In T. Anstorp, K. Benum, & M. Jakobsen (Eds.), *Dissosiasjon og relasjonstraumer: Integrering av det splittede jeg* (pp. 73-88). Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.
- Näring, G., & Nijenhuis, E. R. (2005). Relationships between self-reported potentially traumatizing events, psychoform and somatoform dissociation, and absorption, in two non-clinical populations. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 39, 982-988. doi:10.1080/j.1440-1614.2005.01701.x
- Norsk Helseinformatikk (2013). Schizofreni Omfang og betydning. In Norsk Helseinformatikk (Ed.), Pasienthåndboka. Retriewed from http://nhi.no/pasienthandboka/sykdommer/psykisk-helse/schizofreni-forekomst-9122.html
- Pilton, M., Varese, F., Berry, K., & Bucci, S. (2015). The relationship between dissociation and voices: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 40, 138-155. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2015.06.004
- Quinlan, D. M., & Harrow, M. (1974). Boundary disturbances in schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 83, 533-541. doi:10.1037/h0037070

- Read, J., Agar, K., Argyle, N., & Aderhold, V. (2003). Sexual and physical abuse during childhood and adulthood as predictors of hallucinations, delusions and thought disorder. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 76, 1-22. doi:10.1348/14760830260569210
- Read, J., Fosse, R., Moskowitz, A., & Perry, B. (2014). The traumagenic neurodevelopmental model of psychosis revisited. *Neuropsychiatry*, *4*, 65-79. doi:10.2217/npy.13.89
- Read, J., Os, J. v., Morrison, A., & Ross, C. A. (2005). Childhood trauma, psychosis and schizophrenia: A literature review with theoretical and clinical implications.

  \*Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 112, 330-350. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00634.x\*
- Read, J., Perry, B. D., Moskowitz, A., & Connolly, J. (2001). The contribution of early traumatic events to schizophrenia in some patients: A traumagenic neurodevelopmental model. *Psychiatry Interpersonal and Biological Processes*, 64, 319-345. doi:10.1521/psyc.64.4.319.18602
- Read, J., Sampson, M., & Critchley, C. (2016). Are mental health services getting better at responding to abuse, assault and neglect? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*. doi:10.1111/acps.12552
- Renard, S. B., Pijnenborg, M., & Lysaker, P. H. (2012). Dissociation and social cognition in schizophrenia spectrum disorder. *Schizophrenia Research*, *137*, 219-223. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.02.001
- Ross, C. A. (2004). *Schizophrenia: Innovations in diagnosis and treatment*. The Haworth Press: Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

- Ross, C. A. (2008). Dissociative schizophrenia. In A. Moskowitz, I. Schäfer, & M. J. Dorahy (Eds.), *Psychosis, trauma and dissociation: Emerging perspectives on severe psychopathology* (pp. 281-294). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Ross, C. A., Heber, S., Norton, G. R., & Anderson, G. (1989). Differences between multiple personality disorder and other diagnostic groups on structured interview. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 177*, 487-491.

  Retriewed from http://journals.lww.com/jonmd/Abstract/1989/08000/Differences\_between\_Multiple\_Personality\_Disorder.6.aspx
- Ross, C. A., & Keyes, B. (2004). Dissociation and schizophrenia. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 5, 69-83. doi:10.1300/J229v05n03\_05
- Ross, C. A., & Keyes, B. B. (2009). Clinical features of dissociative schizophrenia in China. *Psychosis*, 1, 51-60. doi:10.1080/17522430802517641
- Ross, C. A., Miller, S. D., Reagor, P., Bjornson, L., Fraser, G. A., & Anderson, G. (1990). Schneiderian symptoms in multiple personality disorder and schizophrenia. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *31*, 111-118. doi:10.1016/0010-440X(90)90014-J
- Rossiter, A., Byrne, F., Wota, A. P., Nisar, Z., Ofuafor, T., Murray, I., . . . Hallahan, B. (2015). Childhood trauma levels in individuals attending adult mental health services: An evaluation of clinical records and structured measurement of childhood trauma. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 44, 36-45. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.01.001

- Saha, S., Chant, D., Welham, J., & McGrath, J. (2005). A systematic review of the prevalence of schizophrenia. *PLoS Medicine*, *2*, 413-433. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0020141
- Sandberg, D. A., & Lynn, S. J. (1992). Dissociative experiences, psychopathology and adjustment, and child and adolescent maltreatment in female college students.

  \*\*Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 101, 717-723. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.101.4.717
- Şar, V., Akyüz, G., & Doğan, O. (2007). Prevalence of dissociative disorders among women in the general population. *Psychiatry Research*, *149*, 169-176. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2006.01.005
- Sar, V., Taycan, O., Bolat, N., Özmen, M., Duran, A., Öztürk, E., & Ertem-Vehid, H. (2009). Childhood trauma and dissociation in schizophrenia. *Psychopathology*, *43*, 33-40. doi:10.1159/000255961
- Sass, L., & Parnas, J. (2003). Schizophrenia, consciousness, and the self. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 29, 427-444.
- Sass, L., Pienkos, E., Nelson, B., & Medford, N. (2013). Anomalous self-experience in depersonalization and schizophrenia: A comparative investigation.
   Consciousness and Cognition, 22, 430-441. doi:10.1016/j.concog.2013.01.009
- Schalinski, I., Fischer, Y., & Rockstroh, B. (2015). Impact of childhood adversities on the short-term course of illness in psychotic spectrum disorders. *Psychiatry Research*, 228, 633-640. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.052
- Schalinski, I., & Teicher, M. H. (2015). Type and timing of childhood maltreatment and severity of shutdown dissociation in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorder. *PLoS one*, *10*, 1-18. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0127151

- Scharfetter, C. (2008). Ego-fragmentation in schizophrenia: A severe dissociation of self-experience. In A. Moskowitz, I. Schäfer, & M. J. Dorahy (Eds.), *Psychosis, trauma and dissociation: Emerging perspectives on severe psychopathology* (pp. 51-64). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Schauer, M., & Elbert, T. (2010). Dissociation following traumatic stress: Etiology and treatment. *Zeitschrift für Psychologie/Journal of Psychology*, *218*, 109-127. doi:10.1027/0044-3409/a000018
- Schenkel, L. S., Spaulding, W. D., DiLillo, D., & Silverstein, S. M. (2005). Histories of childhood maltreatment in schizophrenia: Relationships with premorbid functioning, symptomatology, and cognitive deficits. *Schizophrenia research*, 76, 273-286. doi:0.1016/j.schres.2005.03.003
- Schäfer, I., Ross, C. A., & Read, J. (2008). Childhood trauma in psychotic and dissociative disorders. In A. Moskowitz, I. Schäfer, & M. J. Dorahy (Eds.), *Psychosis, trauma and dissociation: Emerging perspectives on severe psychopathology* (pp. 137-150). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Shean, G. D. (2004). *Understanding and treating schizophrenia: Contemporary research, theory, and practice*. New York: Haworth Press.
- Sheffield, J. M., Williams, L. E., Woodward, N. D., & Heckers, S. (2013). Reduced gray matter volume in psychotic disorder patients with a history of childhood sexual abuse. *Schizophrenia Research*, *143*, 185-191. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.032
- Silbersweig, D., Stern, E., Frith, C., Cahill, C., Holmes, A., Grootoonk, S., . . . Schnorr, L. (1995). A functional neuroanatomy of hallucinations in schizophrenia.

  Nature, 378, 176-179. doi:10.1038/378176a0

- Simeon, D. (2004). Depersonalisation disorder. *CNS drugs*, *18*, 343-354. doi:10.2165/00023210-200418060-00002
- Simeon, D., Guralnik, O., Schmeidler, J., Sirof, B., & Knutelska, M. (2001). The role of childhood interpersonal trauma in depersonalization disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*, 1027-1033. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.7.1027
- Spence, W., Mulholland, C., Lynch, G., McHugh, S., Dempster, M., & Shannon, C. (2006). Rates of childhood trauma in a sample of patients with schizophrenia as compared with a sample of patients with non-psychotic psychiatric diagnoses.

  \*\*Journal of Trauma & Dissociation, 7, 7-22. doi:10.1300/J229v07n03\_02
- Spertus, I. L., Yehuda, R., Wong, C. M., Halligan, S., & Seremetis, S. V. (2003).

  Childhood emotional abuse and neglect as predictors of psychological and physical symptoms in women presenting to a primary care practice. *Child Abuse*& Neglect, 27, 1247-1258. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.05.001
- Steinberg, M. (1995). Strukturert klinisk intervju for DSM-IV dissociative [i.e. dissosiative] forstyrrelser (SCID-D). Oslo: Norsk Psykologforening.
- Sullivan, P. F., Kendler, K. S., & Neale, M. C. (2003). Schizophrenia as a complex trait:

  Evidence from a meta-analysis of twin studies. *Archives of General Psychiatry*,

  60, 1187-1192. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.60.12.1187
- Tellegen, A., & Atkinson, G. (1974). Openness to absorbing and self-altering experiences (" absorption"), a trait related to hypnotic susceptibility. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 83, 268-277. doi:10.1037/h0036681
- Therman, S., Lindgren, M., Manninen, M., Loewy, R. L., Huttunen, M. O., Cannon, T. D., & Suvisaari, J. (2014). Predicting psychosis and psychiatric hospital care

- among adolescent psychiatric patients with the Prodromal Questionnaire. *Schizophrenia Research*, *158*, 7-10. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2014.06.031
- Trauma, Dissociation and Psychosis International Conference. (2015). Om konferansen.

  Retrieved from http://traumaconference.no/no/om-konferansen/
- Tsuang, M. T., Stone, W. S., & Faraone, S. V. (2001). Genes, environment and schizophrenia. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *178*, 18-24. doi:10.1192/bjp.178.40.s18
- van der Hart, O., Nijenhuis, E., & Steele, K. (2006). *The haunted self: Structural dissociation and the treatment of chronic traumatization*. New York: WW Norton & Company.
- van der Hart, O., Nijenhuis, E., Steele, K., & Brown, D. (2004). Trauma-related dissociation: Conceptual clarity lost and found. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 38, 906-914. doi:10.1080/j.1440-1614.2004.01480.x
- van Ijzendoorn, M. H., & Schuengel, C. (1996). The measurement of dissociation in normal and clinical populations: Meta-analytic validation of the Dissociative Experiences Scale (DES). *Clinical Psychology Review, 16*, 365-382. doi:10.1016/0272-7358(96)00006-2
- Varese, F., Barkus, E., & Bentall, R. (2012). Dissociation mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and hallucination-proneness. *Psychological Medicine*, 42, 1025-1036. doi:10.1017/S0033291711001826
- Vaz, S. A. M., & Heinrichs, R. W. (2002). Schizophrenia and memory impairment: Evidence for a neurocognitive subtype. *Psychiatry Research*, *113*, 93-105. doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(02)00246-9

- Vermetten, E., & Bremner, J. D. (2002a). Circuits and systems in stress. I. Preclinical studies. *Depression and Anxiety*, 15, 126-147. doi:10.1002/da.10016
- Vermetten, E., & Bremner, J. D. (2002b). Circuits and systems in stress. II.

  Applications to neurobiology and treatment in posttraumatic stress disorder.

  Depression and Anxiety, 16, 14-38. doi:10.1002/da.10017
- Vermetten, E., Schmahl, C., Lindner, S., Loewenstein, R. J., & Bremner, J.D. (2006).

  Hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in dissociative identity disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *163*, 630-636. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.163.4.630
- Videbech, P., Kjølbye, M., Sørensen, T., & Vestergaard, P. (2010). *Psykiatri. En lærebog om voksnes psykiske sygdomme*. København, Danmark: FADL's Forlag.
- Viertiö, S. (2011). Functional limitations and quality of life in schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders (Doctoral Dissertation, Helsinki University, Helsinki, Finland). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10138/26233
- Vogel, M., Braungardt, T., Grabe, H. J., Schneider, W., & Klauer, T. (2013).
  Detachment, compartmentalization, and schizophrenia: Linking dissociation and psychosis by subtype. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 14, 273-287.
  doi:10.1080/15299732.2012.724760
- Weiss, S. J. (2007). Neurobiological alterations associated with traumatic stress.

  \*Perspectives in Psychiatric Care, 43, 114-122. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6163.2007.00120.x
- Wilgus, S. J., Packer, M. M., Lile-King, R., Miller-Perrin, C. L., & Brand, B. L. (2016).
  Coverage of child maltreatment in abnormal psychology extbooks: Reviewing the adequacy of the content. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 8*, 188-197. doi:10.1037/tra0000049

- Yanartas, O., Ozmen, H. A., Citak, S., Zincir, S. B., Sunbul, E. A., & Kara, H. (2015).
  Childhood traumatic experiences and trauma related psychiatric comorbidities in dissociative disorders. *Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bulteni*, 25, 321-434.
  doi:10.5455/bcp.20140123030857
- Young, M., Read, J., Barker-Collo, S., & Harrison, R. (2001). Evaluating and overcoming barriers to taking abuse histories. *Professional Psychology:*\*Research and Practice, 32, 407-414. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.32.4.407